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3  I  Key financial figures
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Special effects CeoTronics, Inc., (further details, see Group Management Report, page 35)
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Revenues by customer group

Revenues by company

Personnel structure

Revenues by market

Revenues by division

Government security and law enforcement agencies

Wholesale / retail

Industry / other

Airlines

Firefighters / rescue services

Germany

Spain

France

Switzerland

Poland

Rest of Europe

U.S.A.

Rest of world

Operations (80)

Marketing / sales (40)

Administration (17)

Research and development (17)

Audio / Data Communication

Video / Data Communication

Service

CT Germany

CT Spain

CT France

CT-Video

CT Poland

CT Switzerland

CT U.S.A.



Annual Report 09 / 10

Contents  I  5

	 Annual Report 09 / 10

3	 Key Figures at a Glance

5	 Contents

6	 History

7	 Corporate Culture

8	 Letter from the Board of Management

10	 Report by the Supervisory Board

14	 25 Years of CeoTronics

16	 Research & Technology

18	 Prime Performance

19	 Our Employees

20	 CeoTronics’ Shares

22	 Corporate Governance Report

26	 Our Market

28	 Operations in Germany

29	 Group Structure

30	 Priority Markets

32	 Group Management Report

	 Consolidated Financial Statements

44	 Balance Sheet – Assets

45	 Balance Sheet – Equity and Liabilities

46	 Income Statement

47	 Cash Flow Statement

48	 Statement of Changes in Equity

49	� Statement of Changes in Noncurrent 
Assets

50	� Notes to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements

80	 Responsibility Statement

81	 Auditors’ Report

	 CeoTronics AG Germany

82	 Balance Sheet – Assets

82	 Balance Sheet – Equity and Liabilities

83	 Income Statement

84	 Executive Bodies

84	 Financial Calendar

85	 Legal Notice

86	 Sustainable Value Management

89	 Editorial Information



Annual Report  09 / 10

6  I  History

1985
Formation of CeoTronics GmbH in Rödermark near Frank-
furt / Main, Germany; development, production, and sale of 
communication systems.

1986 - 1993
Formation of CeoTronics Ltd., CeoTronics AG (Switzerland), 
CeoTronics S.L., and CeoTronics, Inc., and opening of a sales 
office in the Benelux countries.

1997
Reorganization of international marketing / sales at the parent 
company. Reorganization of CeoTronics GmbH as CeoTronics 
AG.

1998
CeoTronics AG’s IPO on the Neuer Markt in Frankfurt /Main.

1999
Formation of CT-Video GmbH.

2000
Opening of a sales office in Scandinavia. Acquisition of the 
entire Audio Accessory Division of DTC, Inc. (U.S.A.). Launch 
of wireless digital audio transmission technology. DIN EN ISO 
9001:1994 certification.

2001
New CT-Video GmbH factory opens in Lutherstadt Eisleben.

2002
ATEX certification. Acquisition of 75 % of AACOM Ltd., Poland 
(former CT sales partner). Change of stock market segment 
from the Neuer Markt to the Geregelter Markt.

2003
Admission to and listing in the Prime Standard.

2004
DIN EN ISO 9001:2000 and ATEX certification. Inclusion in the 
TechnologyAllShare index. Launch of wireless digital video data 
transmission technology.

2006
CeoTronics AG is awarded the “2006 Georg Waeber Innova-
tion Prize.”

2007
CeoTronics AG receives the largest order in its history, to-
taling €8.5 million, from the German Armed Forces for  
CT-DECT JetCom systems. Inclusion in the GEX index.

2008
CeoTronics AG commissions its own Tetra radio cell, its own 
GTEM cell for EMC measurements, and a new acoustics la-
boratory.

2009
CT-Video GmbH’s production space in Lutherstadt Eisleben 
was expanded by 650 m2 to a total operating area of 1,850 m2.

CT-Video GmbH celebrates its tenth anniversary and the ex-
pansion of its production space.

2010
CeoTronics AG’s anniversary year. CeoTronics GmbH started 
operations in Rödermark, Germany on June 1, 1985. The Com-
pany, which has become a trademark for innovative, top-of-the-
range communication products, celebrated 25 years of success 
in 2010. 

The largest single order in CT-Video GmbH’s history, worth ap-
proximately €1.5 million, is delivered and invoiced.

History



Annual Report  09 / 10

Corporate Culture  I  7

People have been using our products to communicate under 
challenging ambient conditions for 25 years. From the begin-
ning, CeoTronics was decisively shaped by bold entrepreneur-
ship and people with the courage to seek out unconventional 
solutions. From this commitment and dedication grew a cor-
porate philosophy characterized by openness, respect, and 
success.

We direct operations from Rödermark, working closely with 
154 employees around the world. We have flat hierarchies and 
an open door policy that stand for short information paths and 
decision-making processes. These are the strengths that make 
our Company unique – plus talented, motivated employees in 
all of our areas of activity.

We invest a great deal in staff recruitment, training, and reten-
tion, as well as in creating a working environment where talent 
and creativity can shine. The reason is simple: We can only 
achieve our corporate goals together with our employees.

This is why all employees naturally share in our success in the 
form of profit sharing, special bonuses for exceptional perfor-
mance, training events, and an annual inflation allowance.

Corporate Culture
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Letter from the Board of Management
Ladies and Gentlemen,
Dear Shareholders,

Fiscal year 2009 / 2010 was dominated by the delayed effects 
of the global economic and fi nancial crisis, further delays in 
the switch to digital radio in Germany and Northern Europe, 
and the temporary halts called to German Armed Forces pro-
jects worth a total of approximately €4.0 million due to budget 
restraints.

In addition to these unforeseeable external negative infl uences, 
CeoTronics faced the expected return to normal of its business 
in Spain, Switzerland, and the Benelux countries, following the 
substantial investments made in the switch to digital radio there 
in previous years.

The switch to digital radio in France was also more or less 
completed in recent years, meaning that revenues were also 
expected to return to normal here. However, we experienced 
additional sales-related challenges in this market that also 
contributed to the negative trend. 

Fiscal years 2006 / 2007, 2007 / 2008, and 2008 / 2009 were 
extremely successful. This was due among other things to the 
large order worth almost €8.6 million received from the German 
Armed Forces. Orders like this are few and far between.
 
For these reasons, among others, CeoTronics experienced a 23.7 % 
decline in revenues to €14.4 million in fi scal year 2009 / 2010. 
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Given these exceptional circumstances, CeoTronics made use 
of short-time working to adjust capacities to match production 
orders, avoid redundancies, and cut costs.

Overall, savings of €320 thousand were made in marketing 
and sales and of €206 thousand in operating costs (excluding 
cost of materials) in fiscal year 2009 / 2010. This shaved a total 
of approximately €500 thousand (= 7.1 %) off the Group’s cost 
budget compared with fiscal year 2008 / 2009. This is all the 
more remarkable given that existing saving potential was already 
leveraged in previous years. We shall intensify this disciplined 
cost management in fiscal year 2010 / 2011. 
 
We closed fiscal year 2009 / 2010 with consolidated EBIT of 
€-1,130 thousand (of which €643 thousand from one-time effects) 
and a loss for the year of €1,396 thousand (of which €923 
thousand from one-time effects). 

At the end of fiscal year 2009 / 2010, CeoTronics was forced to 
make adjustments to CeoTronics U.S.A.’s goodwill and defer-
red tax assets, the carrying amount for CeoTronics U.S.A., and 
CeoTronics AG’s receivables from CeoTronics U.S.A. to reflect 
current developments and the outlook, based on CeoTronics 
U.S.A.’s new six-year budget figures as from 2010/2011. How-
ever, these one-time effects did not impact CeoTronics’ liquidity 
situation, although they did significantly reduce the risk associ-
ated with its U.S. operations.

There are, however, also positive things to report in fiscal year 
2009 / 2010: 

At 68.7 %, the Group’s equity ratio remains unusually high 
even after the impairment losses in connection with CeoTronics 
U.S.A.; CT-Video GmbH generated its highest-ever revenues 
(+22 %); after adjustments for the one-time effects, CeoTronics 
U.S.A. would have generated a profit for the first time since 
it was founded 18 years ago; the Group’s order backlog as 

of May 31, 2010 was up 7.9 % year-on-year; incoming orders 
in the fourth quarter of the past fiscal year were up 44.6 % on 
the fourth quarter of 2008 / 2009; and the economic outlook is 
increasingly improving. 

Additionally, in May, the first batch of the order for digital ra-
dios that the Company won from the federal state of Berlin in 
August 2009 was drawn down. CeoTronics was also awarded 
contracts for parts of the digital radio tenders from the federal 
states of Thuringia and Hamburg in May and June.

The Board of Management analyzed in detail the order fore-
casts, project lists, and order backlog and addressed econo-
mic developments and the budget situation of the public-sector 
customers in its priority markets.

The results of this forward-looking assessment are positive, 
assuming that no unusual and currently unforeseen circum-
stances impact our assumptions. It is sufficiently likely that 
CeoTronics will be able to significantly increase revenues and 
generate positive earnings again in fiscal year 2010 / 2011.

Equally, we are currently expecting our business performance 
in fiscal year 2011 / 2012 to be positive, with rising revenues 
and profit for the year. 

CeoTronics – well positioned for the upturn!

Rödermark, August 13, 2010

Günther Thoma
Chief Operating Officer

Thomas H. Günther
Chairman of the Board of Management

Berthold Hemer
Deputy Chairman of the Board of Management
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Dear Shareholders,

Once again, our work with CeoTronics AG’s Board of Manage-
ment in fiscal year 2009 / 2010 took place in a spirit of trust 
and open communication. The Supervisory Board provided 
in-depth support for the Company’s development and actively 
discussed it with the Board of Management. 

Eight Supervisory Board meetings were held in the period un-
der review: August 14, 2009, October 9, 2009, November 6, 
2009, January 13, 2010, March 12, 2010, March 25, 2010, May 
14, 2010, and May 19, 2010. All Supervisory Board meetings 
were quorate. Between its meetings, the Supervisory Board 
was also kept informed about key developments both orally 
and in writing. In addition, the Chairman of the Supervisory 
Board discussed business policy issues at irregular intervals 
with the Chairman of the Board of Management in particular. 

The Chairman of the Supervisory Board was given access 
to the minutes of the meetings of the Board of Management. 
Questions resulting from this were discussed in detail with the 
other Supervisory Board members in subsequent meetings, 
among other things, with reports being provided by the Board 
of Management.

Focus of the Supervisory Board’s deliberations
At each meeting, the Supervisory Board addressed any ne-
cessary review of the transactions by the Board of Manage-
ment requiring Supervisory Board approval. In addition, the 
following issues, among others, were discussed in the pre-
sence of the Board of Management: the quarterly reports; ana-
lyses of and deviations from the budget and year-on-year com-
parisons; income statements prepared by the parent company 
and each affiliate; risk management in accordance with the 
Gesetz zur Kontrolle und Transparenz im Unternehmensbe-
reich (KonTraG – German Act on Control and Transparency in 
Business) with a risk inventory including the strategic, financial 
market, and legal risks facing the Company; the complaints 
rate; the current business situation including bank balances; 

receivables and liabilities; bank ratings; order backlogs; fore-
casts; potential bad debts; the stock market situation; share 
price performance; and investor relations measures. 

The amendments to German stock corporation law and the 
German Corporate Governance Code relevant to CeoTronics AG 
were presented and discussed at the regular meetings of the 
Supervisory Board.

On August 14, 2009, the Supervisory Board – in the presence 
of the Board of Management – received the oral report of the 
auditors and discussed the HGB annual financial statements, 
the consolidated IFRS financial statements, and the Board of 
Management’s proposal on the appropriation of net profit for 
fiscal year 2008 / 2009. 

In addition, this meeting resolved to extend Günther Thoma’s 
contract of service with the Board of Management as of Janu-
ary 1, 2010, amendments to the Articles of Association, and 
motions for the General Meeting on November 6, 2009, among 
other things, and the agenda for the 2009 General Meeting 
was prepared together with the Board of Management. 

At its meeting on October 9, 2009, the Supervisory Board was, 
among other things, given a presentation on CT-Video GmbH, 
the second-largest Group company, by the technical manager. 
It also discussed the Board of Management’s report on compli-
ance management within the Company – and particularly  
CeoTronics AG’s insider trading guidelines – which was ack-
nowledged by all present.
 
A Supervisory Board meeting was held following the General 
Meeting on November 6, 2009, in which Hans-Dieter Günther 
was elected as Chairman of the Supervisory Board and Horst 
Schöppner as Deputy Chairman. 

Report by the 
Supervisory Board
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At its meeting on January 13, 2010, the Supervisory Board – 
after weighing the costs of engaging an external auditor – itself 
reviewed the efficiency of its work in accordance with section 
161 of the Aktiengesetz (AktG – German Stock Cooperation 
Act) and concluded that it has been efficient.

The introduction of short-time working in the factories in Rö-
dermark and Eisleben, Germany was also discussed with the 
Board of Management in this meeting. Other issues addressed 
were current business developments at, and prospects for, the 
subsidiaries, and particularly CeoTronics Inc. in the United Sta-
tes.

In its meeting on March 12, 2010, the Supervisory Board dis-
cussed the fixed remuneration of the members of the Board of 
Management, among other things, and resolved to increase 
the cover amount for the D & O insurance policy. 

In its meeting on March 25, 2010, the Supervisory Board dis-
cussed, among other things, the interim results for the first half 
of the year presented by the Board of Management and the 
effects of the Gesetz zur Angemessenheit der Vorstandsver-
gütung (VorstAG – German Act on the Appropriateness of 
Board of Management Remuneration).

In the meeting on May 14, 2010, the effects of the VorstAG on 
the current contracts of the three members of the Board of 
Management were discussed, the Supervisory Board’s Decla-
ration of Conformity in accordance with section 161 of the AktG 
was adopted, CeoTronics AG’s revised risk management ma-
nual was addressed, and amendments to the Articles of Asso-
ciation for the next General Meeting were discussed.

The Supervisory Board and the Board of Management resol-
ved their joint Declaration of Conformity in accordance with 
section 161 of the AktG on May 19, 2010. The Supervisory 
Board also discussed the possibility of switching the listing 
segment for CeoTronics’ shares, and the Board of Manage-
ment was asked to examine the advantages and disadvanta-

ges of this in consultation with a lawyer specializing in this field 
so as to reach a basis for a possible resolution.

The members of the Supervisory Board also kept themselves 
informed and exchanged their views between meetings, both 
in person and by telephone.

The Supervisory Board defined the Board of Management’s 
reporting obligations and the list of transactions requiring Su-
pervisory Board approval for the Board of Management.

The Chairman of the Supervisory Board attended three trade fairs 
in the period under review that are relevant to the CeoTronics 
Group’s priority markets and competitive environment. 

The reports on these visits were sent to the members of the 
Supervisory Board.

The Chairman of the Supervisory Board examined the ac-
counts of two affiliates in 2009 / 2010. The reports on these vi-
sits were sent to the members of the Supervisory Board. 

The Supervisory Board of CeoTronics AG therefore performed 
the duties required of it by law, the Articles of Association, and 
the German Corporate Governance Code throughout the entire 
fiscal year. It monitored the work of the Board of Management 
and supported the latter’s decision-making by giving advice.

German Corporate Governance Code
The Supervisory Board kept abreast of ongoing developments 
in corporate governance standards on an ongoing basis. It 
familiarized itself with the changes to the German Corporate 
Governance Code that were published on June 18, 2009 and 
discussed them in detail. 

The Board of Management and the Supervisory Board signed the 
joint Declaration of Conformity on May 19, 2010. CeoTronics 
AG continues to comply with the principles required by the 
Code, with a small number of exceptions.
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The detailed disclosures relating to the German Corporate 
Governance Code can be found in the relevant chapter of 
the Annual Report. Moreover, both the current and previous 
declarations of conformity are published on CeoTronics AG’s 
website (in German only). 

The annual efficiency audit performed on the basis of the German 
Corporate Governance Code rated the efficiency of the coope-
ration between the Board of Management and the Supervisory 
Board as well as the Supervisory Board’s work as very good. 

There are and have been no conflicts of interest affecting Su-
pervisory Board members. 

The total remuneration of the Board of Management and the 
Supervisory Board is presented in the notes to the annual and 
consolidated financial statements.

Audit of the annual and consolidated financial statements
UWP Unitreu GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, Eschborn, 
which was elected as auditors and Group auditors for fiscal 
year 2009 / 2010 by the General Meeting on November 6, 2009, 
was engaged by the Supervisory Board on April 23, 2010 to 
audit the annual financial statements, the consolidated financi-
al statements, and the management reports after the details 
were established and the fee agreed.

The Supervisory Board acknowledged the declaration of in-
dependence obtained from the auditors in accordance with 
section 7.2.1 of the German Corporate Governance Code and 
determined the areas of emphasis of the audit.

In accordance with the German Corporate Governance Code, 
the audit engagement also includes a duty to inform the Super-
visory Board about any potential conflicts of interest or cases 
of bias that arise during the audit and cannot be eliminated 
immediately. The auditors must also report material findings or 
events, including any facts that indicate the inaccuracy of the 
Declaration of Conformity with the German Corporate Gover-
nance Code submitted by the Board of Management and the 
Supervisory Board.

In the past fiscal year, the consolidated financial statements 
were prepared in accordance with International Financial Re-
porting Standards (IFRSs). 

UWP Unitreu GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft audited 
the annual and consolidated financial statements of CeoTronics 
AG and the relevant management reports as of May 31, 2010, 
including the accounting system, in accordance with the legal 
requirements and issued unqualified audit reports on them.

The auditors’ report contains no comments or indications of 
any inaccuracies in the Declaration of Conformity with the Ger-
man Corporate Governance Code. 

The Board of Management provided the Supervisory Board 
with the annual financial statements in accordance with the 
Handelsgesetzbuch (HGB – German Commercial Code) and 
the IFRS consolidated financial statements, as well as the ma-
nagement reports in a timely manner.

The auditors attended the meeting on August 13, 2010, repor-
ted on the results of their audit, and were available to answer 
detailed questions from the Supervisory Board. The Supervisory 
Board had at its disposal all final documents on CeoTronics 
AG’s and the Group’s financial statements, the Board of 
Management’s proposal for the appropriation of profits, the re-
port by the Supervisory Board, and the auditors’ reports both 
before and during its meeting on August 13, 2010.

The Supervisory Board conducted its own examination of the 
HGB annual financial statements and the management report 
of CeoTronics AG as of May 31, 2010 in its meeting on August 
23, 2010, and did not raise any objections. The auditors also 
attended this Supervisory Board meeting.

The Supervisory Board also concurred with the auditors’ fin-
dings with regard to the consolidated financial statements and 
the Group management report and, following its own exami-
nation, approved the consolidated financial statements and 
the Group management report in accordance with IFRSs as 
of May 31, 2010.
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Consequently, CeoTronics AG’s annual financial statements 
have been adopted in accordance with section 172 of the Ak-
tiengesetz, and the consolidated financial statements have 
been approved.

The Supervisory Board was informed by the Board of Manage-
ment of the ongoing non-indication-based examination by the 
Financial Reporting Enforcement Panel (FREP), in particular 
in regard to the carrying amounts relating to the “CeoTronics, 
Inc. U.S.A.” subsidiary. The Supervisory Board acknowledged 
the information provided by the Board of Management.

The Supervisory Board endorses the proposal by the Board of 
Management on the appropriation of the net retained profit. A 
proposal will be made to the General Meeting on November 5, 
2010 to carry forward the net retained profit of €642,243.18 
reported by CeoTronics AG to new account.

Key events after the balance sheet date
At the Supervisory Board meeting on July 8, 2010, the Board of 
Management announced that, following consultation with and 
advice from a specialist lawyer, it will be taking steps to switch 
the segment in which CeoTronics’ shares are listed from Deut-
sche Börse’s Prime Standard to its Entry Standard following 
approval by the Supervisory Board. The Supervisory Board 
unanimously approved the Board of Management’s decision.

Hans-Dieter Günther, the Chairman of the Supervisory Board, 
announced on July 30, 2010 that he would be resigning as of 
August 31, 2010 for health reasons. He will be replaced by 
Matthias Löw, Rodgau, the alternate Supervisory Board member.

The Supervisory Board would like to thank the members of the 
Board of Management, the executives, and the employees of 
the CeoTronics companies in Germany and abroad for their 
personal contributions during fiscal year 2009 / 2010.

We would like to thank our shareholders for their confidence 
in us and wish us all every success in meeting the challenges 
ahead of us in fiscal year 2010 / 2011.

Rödermark, August 23, 2010

The Supervisory Board of CeoTronics AG

Hans-Dieter Günther
Chairman 



Annual Report  09 / 10

The beginning
Somewhat more than 25 years ago, Hans-Dieter Günther, 
Berthold Hemer, and Horst Schöppner came up with a busi-
ness idea: to develop and internationally market best-of-breed 
electronic communication systems for professional communi-
cation under diffi cult ambient conditions.

It was with this goal that CeoTronics GmbH was founded in 
Rödermark, Germany in May 1985. Operations began on June 1, 
1985. 

An international focus from the beginning
CeoTronics’ subsidiaries in France, the United Kingdom, Swit-
zerland, Spain, and the United States were founded between 
1986 and 1993. CT-Video GmbH was launched in 1999 and 
CeoTronics in Poland in 2002.
 
The mid-1980s
At the beginning, very few companies were active in the niche 
market for communication systems in noisy industrial environ-
ments or for security forces (police, border guards, etc.). Over 
the years, more competitors appeared, but CeoTronics always 
managed to remain the market leader. 

At the beginning of the 1990s
CeoTronics launched the world’s fi rst headset with an integra-
ted radio. The sophisticated technology and the robustness of 
the TC917 gave CeoTronics and its products an excellent repu-
tation and standing with industrial customers. 

What the TC917 was for industrial customers, the CT-GroundCom 
headset was for the airline sector. To date, more than 250 air-
lines, airports, and ground handling companies have put their 
trust in the “classic product with the orange earmuffs.” These are 
used for ground handling, and when servicing or de-icing aircraft.

For decades now police forces in many countries have valued 
not only the quality of CeoTronics’ communication systems, but 
also the Company’s willingness to supply tailor-made commu-
nication solutions. 

The IPO
The capital that the Company raised by going public on 
Germany’s Neuer Markt in 1998 made crucial developments 
possible, including: 
- the digitization of its key product lines and 
- the formation of our successful subsidiary CT-Video GmbH in 
Lutherstadt Eisleben, Germany, which celebrated its tenth 
birth day in 2009.

The use of digital DECT technology for CeoTronics’ audio 
transmission systems from the beginning of 2001 onwards 
opened up a large number of potential new applications for the 
Company, again giving CeoTronics an important technological 
advantage over its competitors. Instead of the simplex commu-
nication that had been the norm until this point (one person 
speaks, the other listens), users could now talk and listen at 
the same time, like on the telephone – and what is more, the 
technology was wireless, too.

25 Years of CeoTronics
The model for an entire sector

14  I  25 Years of  CeoTronics

1985

1986

1998

1990
2001
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2001 to 2010
CeoTronics also demonstrated its innovative strength and mar-
ket leadership in the more recent past. The Company penetrated 
new markets and fulfi lled customers’ wishes with its additional 
CT-DECT versions for a wide range of uses. These include the 
CT-DECT JetCom-System with the CT-Noise Protection Helmet; 
the CT-Neckband Headset, the CT Radio PTT, the CT-ClipCom 
in-ear headset; the CT-DigiCom digital induction receiver; the 
CT-Bluetooth Adapter; and CT MultiCom.

A quarter of a century 
In these fast-moving times, 25 years is an impressive anni-
versary and an eventful period in which CeoTronics has gone 
from being a fi ve-man private limited liability company to a lis-
ted, internationally renowned stock corporation with six subsi-
diaries and a current total headcount of 154 employees.

This positive business development is all the more remarkable 
given that CeoTronics now has around fi ve times as many 
competitors in this attractive niche market and that its potential 
sales market has been experiencing a temporary investment 
backlog and partial market saturation since 2009 at the latest. 

The human success factor
CeoTronics’ dedicated and qualifi ed employees in Rödermark 
(Hesse, Germany), Lutherstadt Eisleben (Saxony-Anhalt, Ger-
many), Rotkreuz (Switzerland), Madrid (Spain), Virginia Beach 
(U.S.A.), Lodz (Poland), and Brie Robert (France) have played 
a key role in the Company’s success. 

The individual performance of each and every Company em-
ployee contributes to our success and we could not have 
achieved what we have together if we had acted in isolation. 
This team spirit is an important ingredient in CeoTronics’ recipe 
for success. 

Special thanks go not only to CeoTronics’ procurement and de-
velopment partners, but also to our customers, who have ins-
pired and challenged CeoTronics time and again over the past 
25 years and who reward us with their tenders. 

In the future, CeoTronics will continue to offer customers the 
best overall package every time thanks to its customer focus 
and extensive consulting expertise, its repeated development 
of additional innovative products, the highest possible product 
and service quality, and the attractive total cost of ownership of 
its products.

25 Years of  CeoTronics  I  15
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Additionally, four engineers (two of whom are with CT-Video 
GmbH) work with our offi ce and fi eld sales forces and as Pro-
kuristen (authorized signatories), providing expertise, high-qua-
lity consulting, and an optimal fl ow of information to the technical 
departments.

Examples of CeoTronics’ innovation leadership include:

•  The original CT-ContactCom skull microphone was patented 
in 1994, and remains a top-selling product to this day.

•  The fi rst headset with an integral radio was developed in 1994 
and has been marketed extremely successfully since then.

•  The CT digital radio system CT-DECT has been successfully 
marketed internationally and continually enhanced since 1999.

•  The CT-CombiCom received an international design patent in 
2003. The robust, modular CT-CombiCom headset system 
has been used by government security and law enforcement 
agencies, as well as industrial customers, since 2004.

•  In 2005, CeoTronics unveiled its internationally patented 
CT-Neckband Headset, one of the lightest and most comfor-
table of its kind in the world.

•  The CT-DCOM video digital radio system hit the market in 
2005.

•  Market launch of the third-generation CT-Cylinder Camera in 
2007.

•  Generation I / II CT noise protection helmets were developed 
in 2005 / 2007.

•  2007 saw the development and installation of complex ro-
botics.

•  In 2006 / 2007, CeoTronics developed the software and hard-
ware for integrating digital noise reduction (CT-DNR), acou-
stic shock elimination (CT-ASE), ambient sound reception 
(CT-ASR), and active gain control (CT-AGC) in CeoTronics’ 
communication systems for use with radio devices, and in its 
CT-DECT systems.

•  In 2008, the CT-DECT Headset in ATEX was the world’s fi rst 
headset with an integral digital duplex radio for explosion ha-
zard zones.

•  In 2008, CT-ClipCom Digital with CT Bluetooth technology, 
CT radio PTT, and DSP technology was the fi rst digital in-ear 
headset.

•  The latest CT-DECT system generation was equipped with 
new software in 2009 and is now even more secure thanks to 
double authentication and 64-bit encryption, both of which 
are recalculated every time the system is restarted.

•  2009 saw the development and announcement of the 
CT-BluetoothAdapter for connecting CT 12 pin communica-
tion systems for use with cell phones.

•  In summer 2009, the CT-ClipCom Digital upgrade was deli-
vered. The SD version offers optimized cabling to the ear as 
well as a watertight PTT key.

•  The market launch of CT-MultiCom – the multifunctional 
hand-held microphone for professional fi refi ghters offering a 
number of connectors for CT communication systems – was 
launched in spring 2010.

The Group spent €1,743 thousand on research and develop-
ment in fi scal year 2009 / 2010 (including €398 thousand at 
CT-Video GmbH); this represents 12.1 % of consolidated reve-
nues in fi scal year 2009 / 2010 (previous year: 9.1 %).

In fi scal year 2007 / 2008, the Company had already invested in

• its own Tetra cell,
• the expansion of its acoustics laboratory, and
• an EMC measuring station with a GTEM cell.

Together with its acoustics test head (an artifi cial head from 
Bruel and Kjaer), which was commissioned fi ve years ago, this 
means that CeoTronics is optimally equipped to master future 
challenges with its own highly professional testing laboratory.

A total of 17 engineers and four technicians develop and modify products at 
CeoTronics AG’s and CT-Video GmbH’s German locations.

Our Engineers and Technicians
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Technology and innovation leadership
The ability to meet our customers’ varied technical demands is 
based on substantial and continuous investment in our own re-
search and development. Our technological expertise reflects our 
in-house knowledge, and CeoTronics’ customers value the rapid 
access they have to this engineering expertise, in particular when it 
comes to fulfilling individual wishes.

Skills partnerships
Professional audio communication systems are often no longer 
enough. Increasingly, the complexity of tasks requires additional 
data and image information. CT-Video GmbH, Lutherstadt Eisle-
ben, which was established in 1999, specializes in the develop-
ment, production, and marketing of video camera and analog / digi-
tal video data transmission systems. The sales organizations of the 
two companies complement each other perfectly, and CeoTronics 
makes use of CT-Video GmbH’s production facilities. Leading pre-
mium manufacturers of protective helmets, radio sets, special ve-
hicles, and aircraft put their trust in the high-end products from  
CeoTronics and CT-Video GmbH. All individual products and sys-
tems dovetail perfectly and fulfill our customers’ extremely exacting 
requirements for overall solutions.

Systems compatibility
CeoTronics communications accessories are available for TETRA 
and TETRAPOL standard digital equipment, as well as for all com-
monly used analog radios. If required, even CeoTronics’ mobile 
digital radio networks and equipment (CT-DECT) for local operati-
on can be integrated with the above-mentioned wide-scale radio 
networks – including GSM.

Customized system solutions
Since every human being is an individual and the operating envi-
ronments of our customers are extremely different, the require-

ments for communication systems are also highly specific. The al-
most infinite range of potential configurations and variations within 
CeoTronics’ product range is supplemented by the individual com-
munication systems that we develop in accordance with specific 
customer demands. All our products are always developed in close 
cooperation with our international customers and continuously en-
hanced to reflect technological progress.

Excellence in quality management
The cost-effectiveness of an investment results from the benefit it 
produces and its total cost of ownership. A product’s cost is affected 
by the purchase price itself and in particular by quality. No customer 
can afford long or frequent product downtimes, the cost of continu-
al repairs, or even accidents due to malfunctions in a communica-
tion system. Demanding customers value the reliability, durability, 
and the high cost-effectiveness of CeoTronics products, which are 
never cheap, but are always worth their price.

Certified and guaranteed
In 2000, CeoTronics became the first company in this specialist 
communications sector to be certified in accordance with ISO 
9001:2000 including KBA (Kraftfahrtbundesamt – German Federal 
Motor Transport Authority) and ATEX Directive 94 / 9. CeoTronics 
offers warranties of up to three years on all its products and is a 
registered NATO supplier. The customer satisfaction surveys we 
have conducted for a number of years also speak volumes: Accor-
ding to the latest survey in June / July 2009, the recommendation 
rate for CeoTronics’ products is 99.2 %.

Prime Performance
Since it was formed in 1985, CeoTronics has positioned itself at the top of 
the quality and performance pyramid thanks to its leadership in the premium 
segment, based on its outstanding consulting expertise, customer focus, ex-
cellent product quality in terms of both functionality and workmanship, the 
use of state-of-the-art technologies, and the flexibility to develop customized 
system solutions.
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Our Employees
We know that shareholder value alone does not defi ne 
a company’s value and potential.

Rather, it is CeoTronics AG’s highly motivated and dedicated 
employees who are responsible for the Company’s outstan-
ding position on the markets. Management appreciates this 
and has the highest respect for the work of each employee, no 
matter what role they play in the Company’s various depart-
ments. This corporate philosophy fosters an atmosphere in 
which every employee can develop their potential and is moti-
vated to do their best. To enable the CeoTronics Group to 
maintain its position as an attractive and successful employer, 
CeoTronics AG’s responsible human resources management 
focused heavily on further training for its employees in the re-
porting period.

Since CeoTronics AG was formed, it has set store by training 
young people. Almost all vocational trainees were hired by 
CeoTronics following the successful completion of their training, 
and some have had remarkable careers. The results of this cor-
porate culture are extremely positive, as is shown by the Rö-
dermark location: The sickness absence ratio is only 2.8 %, the 
average length of service is 10.2 years, and the employee 
turn over rate is only 3.0 %. The Board of Management would 
once again like to express its gratitude to the entire CeoTronics 
team: 154 employees around the world (as of May 31, 2010), 
who speak many different languages and are at home in eight 
countries.
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CeoTronics’ Shares
and the planned switch to the Entry Standard segment. 

clusions for their own activities – that CeoTronics AG will att-
empt to protect its interests by switching from the Prime Stan-
dard to the Entry Standard segment. 

The Entry Standard is the stock market segment best tailored 
to CeoTronics and its corporate and personnel structure. The 
switch from the Prime Standard to the Entry Standard seg-
ment, which was resolved by the Board of Management and 
the Supervisory Board on July 8, 2010 and the application for 
which was fi led with Deutsche Börse on July 22, 2010, is desig-
ned to signifi cantly reduce costs and effort compared with a 
listing in the Prime Standard. 

To ensure the continuity of fi nancial reporting, the Company 
will continue to use International Financial Reporting Stan-
dards (IFRSs) for fi nancial reporting. Going forward, CeoTronics 
will publish a condensed half-yearly report and, as usual, a 
comprehensive annual report for the entire fi scal year.

The stock market in Germany performed well in fi scal year 
2009 / 2010 – not least due to the emerging economic recovery 
in calendar year 2010.

The Technology All Share index rose by 25.5 % in the period 
from June 1, 2009 to May 31, 2010, the TecDAX by 18.6 %, 
and the GEX by 18.4 %.

CeoTronics’ share price traded in a range between €1.81 and 
€2.65 in the period from June 1, 2009 to May 31, 2010. The 
closing price on May 31, 2010 was €2.02 (-2.4 % as against 
June 1, 2009).

The excessive statutory regulations and “voluntary” ag-
reements governing companies listed in the Prime Standard 
have reached a point where they are disproportionate to the 
transparency appropriate to, and necessary for, a middle-mar-
ket company. Given our competitive situation in a niche market 
and the fact that none of our competitors have to fulfi ll these 
transparency standards – although they watch CeoTronics, as 
the market leader, closely in order to gain ideas and draw con-

CeoTronics’ shares compared with the benchmark indices for the period from 
June 1, 2009 to May 31, 2010 (indexed)

Source: DZ Bank

-2,4%

Photo: © Marko Greitschus / pixelio.de
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Declaration of conformity in accordance with section 161 
of the AktG
In accordance with section 161 of the Aktiengesetz (AktG – 
German Stock Corporation Act), the Supervisory Board and 
Board of Management of CeoTronics AG have issued the fol-
lowing statement:

Apart from the exceptions set out below, CeoTronics AG Audio 
Video Data Communication, Rödermark, complied with the re-
commendations of the German Corporate Governance Code 
published in the electronic Bundesanzeiger (German Federal 
Gazette) in fiscal year 2009 / 2010 and intends to comply with 
them in the future as well.

1. Section 3.8
From June 1, 2010 onwards, the Company complies with the 
recommendation in para. 2 sentence 1 of section 3.8, accor-
ding to which a deductible of at least 10 % of the loss up to at 
least the amount of one and a half times the fixed annual com-
pensation of the member of the Board of Management should 
be agreed upon.
 
The Company does not comply with the recommendation in 
para. 2 sentence 2 of section 3.8, according to which deduc-
tible should be agreed for the D & O insurance policy for the 
members of the Supervisory Board. A deductible would result 
in unreasonable additional cost to the Company, as the remu-
neration of the Supervisory Board would have to be increased 
in line with this.

2. Section 4.2.4
The Company does not comply with the recommendation in 
section 4.2.4, according to which the total compensation of 
each one of the members of the Board of Management is to 
be disclosed by name, among other things. In accordance with 
the resolution by the General Meeting on November 4, 2005 
and its confirmation by the General Meeting on November 6, 
2009, the compensation paid to the members of the Board of 
Management is not disclosed individually for each member of 
the Board of Management in the Corporate Governance Re-
port or in the notes to the consolidated financial statements, 
but as an aggregate amount.

3. Section 5.1.2
The Company does not comply with the recommendation in 
para. 1 sentence 3 of section 5.1.2, according to which the 
Supervisory Board and the Board of Management jointly en-
sure that there is a long-term succession plan for the Board 
of Management. Because of the age of the current members 
of the Board of Management, the Supervisory Board and the 
Board of Management do not see any need to prepare a long-
term succession plan.

The Company does not comply with the recommendation in 
para. 2 sentence 3 of section 5.1.2, according to which an age 
limit for members of the Board of Management shall be spe-
cified. The duration of the contracts for the members of the 
Board of Management ensures that an age limit is complied 
with.

4. Section 5.1.3
The Company does not comply with the recommendation in 
section 5.1.3, according to which the Supervisory Board shall 
issue terms of reference. In light of the size of CeoTronics AG 
and the number of Supervisory Board members (currently 
three), the Supervisory Board has not drawn up rules of pro-
cedure for itself. Its duties are performed collectively by the 
members of the Supervisory Board.

5. Section 5.3
The Company does not comply with the recommendation in 
section 5.3, according to which the Supervisory Board shall 
form committees. In light of the size of CeoTronics AG and the 
number of Supervisory Board members (currently three), the 
Supervisory Board has not formed committees. Instead, all 
duties are performed collectively by the members of the Su-
pervisory Board.

6. Section 5.4.3
The Company will only comply with the recommendation in 
para. 1 sentence 3 of section 5.4.3, according to which can-
didates for the chair of the Supervisory Board should be an-
nounced to the shareholders, when the next Supervisory 
Board election is held.

Rödermark, May 19, 2010

Corporate Governance Report
The term “corporate governance” denotes the responsible management and 
supervision of companies; close and open cooperation between the Board of 
Management and the Supervisory Board; respect for shareholders’ interests; 
transparent, timely corporate communication; and financial reporting and au-
diting in compliance with the required standards.
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Remuneration report
The remuneration report explains the basis of remuneration 
for the Board of Management and the Supervisory Board of 
CeoTronics AG.

The remuneration of the Board of Management is stipulated 
by the Supervisory Board, reviewed each year, and adjusted 
if required.

The remuneration of the Board of Management consists of 
fixed and variable remuneration components. Stock options 
are also granted in individual cases.

The fixed annual salary is payable to the members of the 
Board of Management in twelve monthly installments at the 
end of the respective month. In addition, the members of the 
Board of Management are provided with a company car and 
a direct insurance policy in a defined amount is taken out on 
their behalf. The package also includes health and long-term 
care insurance contributions.

Each member of the Board of Management receives a vari-
able remuneration component (bonus) that depends on the 
performance of the Company. The bonus amounts to 3 % of 
the consolidated profit before tax in each case, calculated in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRSs). The annual bonus is limited to 25 % of the total re-
muneration of the member of the Board of Management. The 
bonus is payable at the end of the month after the annual fi-
nancial statements are adopted.

Furthermore, an agreement was reached over bonuses with 
the members of the Board of Management in fiscal year 
2007 / 2008, which provides for payment to be made in the 
event that the closing price of CeoTronics shares reaches or 
exceeds a total of four specified targets on ten successive 
days of trading. Only one payment is made for each of the four 
targets reached. This agreement runs until May 31, 2011.

The contracts with the members of the Board of Management 
do not provide for any express severance payment awards in 
the event that their contracts of service are terminated early. 

The General Meeting on November 4, 2005 resolved that the 
salaries and other remuneration components for the members 
of the Board of Management will not be disclosed individually 
in the notes to the annual financial statements of CeoTronics 
AG. This also applies to benefit commitments to the members 
of the Board of Management in the event of termination of their 
activities. The resolution is applies to fiscal year beginning 
June 1, 2005 and to the four subsequent fiscal years until May 
31, 2010. 

The General Meeting on November 6, 2009 adopted a corres-
ponding resolution with the same content, which applies to the 
fiscal year beginning June 1, 2010 and to the four subsequent 
fiscal years until May 31, 2015.

The remuneration of the Supervisory Board is governed by Ar-
ticle 10 of the Articles of Association of CeoTronics AG. Each 
member of the Supervisory Board receives fixed remuneration 
of €8,000.00 per fiscal year in addition to the reimbursement of 
expenses. In addition, each member receives variable remune 
ration amounting to 1 % of the gross total dividend of CeoTronics 
AG. In both cases, the Chairman of the Supervisory Board re-
ceives three times the remuneration and the Deputy Chairman 
receives one and a half times the remuneration. The members 
of the Supervisory Board also receive an attendance allo-
wance of €500.00 for each meeting they attend.
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Investor relations
CeoTronics is known for its timely, transparent, accurate, and 
honest investor relations activities and reporting. CeoTronics’ 
shareholders and interested investors can receive information 
about CeoTronics in various ways:

• �Quarterly, half-yearly, and annual reports, including via the 
CeoTronics website

• General Meeting
• Investor / capital market conferences
• Corporate Governance Report
• �Ad hoc disclosures, including an archive on the CeoTronics 

website

• Corporate news articles
• Directors’ dealings disclosures
• �Our website www.ceotronics.com, containing all of our bro-

chures and information on new products, successful sales 
stories, etc.

• Advertisements in specialized periodicals
• Participation at trade fairs
• �Press releases in specialized periodicals and daily 
   newspapers
• CT-News

In addition, the CEO is available to provide information by phone, 
fax, or e-mail at: chairman@ceotronics.com.

Supervisory Board member Fixed 
remuneration

Variable 
remuneration

Attendance 
allowance

Total
remuneration

Hans-Dieter Günther / Chairman 24,000.00 19,800.00 4,000.00 47,800.00

Horst Schöppner / Deputy Chairman 12,000.00 9,900.00 3,000.00 24,900.00

Stephan Haack / Member 8,000.00 6,600.00 4,000.00 18,600.00

The remuneration of the individual Supervisory Board members for fiscal year 2009 / 2010 is presented in the following overview:

Shareholdings of the Board of Management and Supervisory Board members
The shareholdings of the Board of Management and Supervisory Board members as of May 31, 2010 are presented in the  
following overview:

Stock option plans
CeoTronics AG currently has no stock option plans.

Function Name CeoTronics shares
(ISIN DE 0005407407/WKN 540740) (quantity)

Board of Management
Chairman of the Board of Management
Deputy Chairman of the Board of Management
Chief Operating Officer

Thomas H. Günther
Berthold Hemer
Günther Thoma

28,494
513,150

18,066

Supervisory Board
Chairman

Deputy Chairman

Member

Hans-Dieter Günther

Horst Schöppner

Stephan Haack

1,113.600

Held personally                                                      10
Other attributable shares belonging to  
Schöppner Vermögensverwaltung GbR:      810,400

Total: 810,410

0
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CeoTronics AG specializes in high-end communication under 
difficult conditions and develops, produces, and sells audio, vi-
deo, and data communication solutions. Above all, our top-of-
the-line products ensure clear and precise interaction: in noisy 
or hazardous areas, while wearing protective helmets or pro-
tective clothing, in explosion hazard zones, in undercover ope-
rations, and in hands-free communication. Our broad range of 
products for extremely diverse applications meets the toughest 
demands and focuses in particular on end-to-end system solu-
tions in addition to traditional headsets and other communica-
tion systems for connecting to analog and digital radio systems. 
For example, mobile or fixed digital radio networks that can be 
set up in seconds and used on the move.

Communication systems for the manufacturing and ser-
vice sectors and sports
The diversity of our products’ applications makes it possible to 
serve the widest variety of industries and individual needs. Our 
customer base includes engineering companies, the automotive 
industry, paper manufacturers, the aerospace industry, power 
utilities, refineries, and oil rigs. However, service providers such 
as amusement parks, the media, sports arenas, and motorsport 
teams also rely on CeoTronics.

Airport and airline communications
This is a constantly growing market in which more than 300 
airlines, airports, and ground handling service companies rely 
on CeoTronics products – and this trend is growing. As market 
leader in the area of ground-to-cockpit communication, our pro-

duct range also includes systems for ramp handling, pushback, 
maintenance, in-flight service, and cockpit communication for 
sky marshals, as well as aircraft and helicopter maintenance.

Always in action: firefighters, civil defense, and rescue 
services
Secure communication and high transmission quality are es-
sential for fire fighting and in emergencies. That’s why for these 
products, there is a special focus on development and design, 
safety, easy handling, and comfort. Durability, weather resis-
tance, resistance to heat, cold, or chemical agents – and optio-
nally explosion-proof models as well – are a must.

Custom solutions for the State and Federal Police, cus-
toms authorities, and the army, navy, and air force
Last but not least, a particular strength of CeoTronics AG should 
not be overlooked: the development and supply of custom com-
munication solutions for the German state and federal police 
forces, customs authorities, and the army, navy, and air force. A 
range of different systems is available in this field. Fully and 
partially covert communication systems as well as miniature 
radio cameras are used for the wireless transfer of video ima-
ges during undercover investigations and for preserving evi-
dence.

Our Market
Communication under difficult conditions means that special solutions are 
required in special situations. Even now – or particularly – in an age when 
communication is a lifestyle, but there are still hazardous areas where even 
the smartest multifunctional cell phones can’t make a call.
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Lutherstadt Eisleben

Rödermark / Group headquarters

CeoTronics sales offices
CT-Video GmbH, R & D, marketing / sales 
and production / after-sales service

CeoTronics AG, R & D, marketing / sales 
and production / after-sales service
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In addition to the after-sales service at these two locations, 
which accounts for approximately 90 % of the total volume, 
CeoTronics provides local on-site after-sales service through 
its subsidiaries in Poland, and Spain. CeoTronics prefers to 
work with German and European suppliers. Its German con-

tent, i.e., the value added as a percentage of the cost of sales, 
was 79 % in fiscal year 2009 / 2010, and its European content 
amounted to 89 %. CeoTronics offers 140 jobs in Germany (re-
porting date: May 31, 2010). 

Operations in Germany
Since the Company’s formation in Rödermark in 1985, CeoTronics has deve-
loped and produced audio, video, and data communication systems exclusi-
vely at its two German locations in Rödermark (Hesse) and, since 1999, also 
in Lutherstadt Eisleben (Saxony-Anhalt).

Struktur des Konzerns

CeoTronics AG
Germany / Rödermark

Representative Offices

CeoTronics AG
Netherlands, Belgium, 

Luxembourg

CeoTronics S.à.r.l.
France / Paris

CeoTronics AG
Italy, Austria, Hungary, Slove-
nia, Croatia, Czech Republic, 

Slovakia

CeoTronics AG
Switzerland / Rotkreuz

CeoTronics AG
Finnland, Sweden, Denmark, 

Norway, Iceland, Estonia, 
Latvia, Lithuania

CeoTronics S.L.
Spain / Madrid

CeoTronics AG
Greece, United Arab Emirates,

Australia

CeoTronics, Inc.
U.S.A. / Virginia Beach

CeoTronics Sp. z o.o.
Poland / Lodz

Non-exclusive
distributors international

CT-Video GmbH
D / Lutherstadt Eisleben

Exclusive project / distribution 
partners

Subsidiaries

Group Structure
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CeoTronics AG’s priority markets can be 
found on both the European and North 
American continents.
The CeoTronics Group maintains a professional sales network 
to meet the need for advice on mobile digital audio and video 
radio networks and equipment for local coverage as well as for 
high-tech communication headsets and systems for professio-
nal use. The Group is represented by six active subsidiaries, a 
field sales force of advisors, and powerful distribution partners 
in a total of 27 countries. As a result, CeoTronics can guarantee 
competent customer service in all of its priority markets and 
can fulfill its claim to be a premium brand.

Priority Markets
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Macroeconomic conditions and effects on CeoTronics
The course of business in fiscal year 2009 / 2010 was again 
impacted by the worst global economic and financial crisis in 
80 years, the effects of which hit CeoTronics after a delay but 
all the more severely.

CeoTronics’ priority markets seem to have put the economic 
crisis behind them. However, economic growth to date has 
been weak and economic output has not yet recovered to pre-
crisis levels. The sector in which CeoTronics is active did not 
benefit from the increased public-sector spending announced 
in connection with the second economic stimulus program .

Investments in internal and external security
The global threat posed by international terrorism has not waned. 
As a result, government security and law enforcement agenci-
es have had among other things to upgrade their equipment, 
including personal technical equipment such as state-of-the-art 
audio, video, and data communications technology. Many coun-
tries realized this years ago and took appropriate measures.

As in previous years, CeoTronics profited in fiscal year 
2009 / 2010 from investments by government security and law 
enforcement agencies in internal and external security, alt-
hough these did not match the level seen in the previous 
year.

The switch from analog to digital radio
Government security and law enforcement agencies, firefigh-
ters, and industrial enterprises in certain priority European 
markets began switching from analog to digital radio many ye-
ars ago. Germany has started to switch over to digital radio 
and preparations are being made for this in Northern Europe.

In Germany, CeoTronics expects significant investments to be 
made by security authorities and organizations, the German 
Armed Forces, firefighters, and industry. 

The market launch of the new generation of Tetrapol radios in 
countries that have already switched to digital radio will offer 
additional revenue potential. This also applies to replacement 
and follow-on orders in those markets that switched to digital 
radio years ago.

Most communication systems for analog radios – and in many 
cases also for older digital radios – in operation to date can no 
longer be used due to the different mechanical and electronic 
interfaces required by the new digital radios. 

Since 1999, CeoTronics has manufactured and sold over 
50,000 systems for connection to the new digital Tetra / Tetra-
pol radios. Our experience in adapting communications acces-
sories to digital radios is a major competitive advantage.

How our customers see CeoTronics
CeoTronics has recorded a continuous improvement in the 
customer surveys that have been carried out for many years 
now. In the most recent survey, CeoTronics achieved an excel-
lent average score of 1.84 across all performance criteria on a 
scale of 1 (very good) to 6 (unsatisfactory). Product quality and 
customer service received the best scores.

Consolidated revenues
CeoTronics was unable to match the extremely strong revenu-
es seen in the last three years due to the ongoing global eco-
nomic crisis in fiscal year 2009 / 2010, the unexpected budget 
cuts by the German Armed Forces at the beginning of 2010, 
and the effect of the major order for CT-DECT JetCom sys-
tems from the German Armed Forces in fiscal year 
2008 / 2009.

In addition, the ongoing delays in the switch to digital radio in 
both Germany and Northern Europe, the massive nature of 
which had not been foreseen, meant that necessary purchases 
by government security and law enforcement agencies were 
only made to a limited degree. Due to the planned switch to 
digital radios, public-sector customers in particular have held 
back on replacing communications accessories for analog ra-
dios. This has led to a considerable investment backlog. 

Consolidated revenues of €14,361 thousand in fiscal year 
2009 / 2010 were down slightly (3.0 %) on the Group forecast of 
approximately €14,800 thousand. Overall, revenues in fiscal 
year 2009 / 2010 were down €4,454 thousand (-23.7 %) on the 
prior-year figure. 

Group Management Report for 
Fiscal Year 2009 / 2010
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Revenue trends by region
The share of revenues generated outside Germany fell to 
45.6 % in fiscal year 2009 / 2010 (previous year: 53.5 %). The 
share accounted for by Germany rose correspondingly to 
54.4 % (previous year: 46.5 %).

The 10.8 % drop in revenues in Germany is due, among other 
things, to muted spending by security authorities and organi-
zations in anticipation of the switch to digital radios and to the 
fact that third batch of the major order for CT-DECT JetCom 
systems from the German Armed Forces was delivered and 
invoiced in fiscal year 2008 / 2009. No comparable projects 
were completed with the German Armed Forces in fiscal year 
2009 / 2010.

Revenues declined slightly in France due, among other things, 
to the economic crisis. The order backlog is down significantly 
on the prior-year level (-90.6 %). In fiscal year 2010 / 2011, 
CeoTronics France will attempt to stem the decline in revenues 
and return to profitability with its current lower headcount.

The global economic crisis and associated budget cuts have 
also left their mark on customers in Spain. In fiscal year 
2009 / 2010, revenues fell by 67.2 % while the order backlog as 
of May 31, 2010 was down 60.4 % on the prior-year date. 

CeoTronics was also unable to maintain prior-year revenue le-
vels in Switzerland, due in particular to the fact that the switch 
to digital radio made very little further progress. Revenues 
were down 43.8 %, although the order backlog rose by 59. 9%.

Revenues in Poland declined by 80.2 %. However, the order 
backlog as of May 31, 2010 rose considerably, albeit to a low 
level. CeoTronics was also unable to repeat its prior-year reve-
nue levels in its other key foreign markets.

Earnings at CeoTronics U.S.A.
CeoTronics U.S.A.’s operating business turned in a very positi-
ve performance. After consolidation and translation from U.S. 
dollars to euros, CeoTronics U.S.A.’s revenues rose by 
125.30 % year-on-year. The order backlog as of May 31, 2010 
was up 156.1 %.

CeoTronics, U.S.A.’s current business growth and prospects 
for fiscal year 2010 / 2011 do not appear to be sufficiently posi-
tive to support the original planning, due among other things to 
the delay that is, unfortunately, likely to occur in the availability 
of new products – including ones aimed at additional new cus-
tomer groups – the training of new sales team members, which 
is a time-consuming task for sales management, and the de-
velopment of a stronger indirect sales channel. The impair-
ment test required to be performed after completion of the an-
nual planning process recognized a need to charge an 
impairment loss on the goodwill reported in CeoTronics U.S.A.’s 
financial statements of USD 903 thousand.

As CeoTronics U.S.A.’s balance sheet assets were largely writ-
ten down as a result of this one-time factor, no material effects 
are expected on long-term earnings in the coming years due to 
additional writedowns.

In addition to positive revenue and margin trends, the U.S. dol-
lar exchange rate had a positive effect on earnings in fiscal 
year 2009 / 2010. Without the one-time factor mentioned abo-
ve, this would have resulted in CeoTronics U.S.A. recording a 
profit for the year of USD 16 thousand, a significant improve-
ment on the previous year’s loss of USD 232 thousand.

Performance of the divisions and units
CeoTronics Group’s business activities can be broken down into 
two main divisions: Audio / Data Communication and Video / Data 
Communication. CeoTronics also has a third division, Service. 
The largest division, Audio / Data Communication, is divided into 
the following units:

• Radio Networks, Headsets, and Systems;
• Vibration Technology and Helmet Communication;
• �In-ear Headsets (previously Ear Microphones) and Covert 

Communication; and
• Cable-bound Audio Communication and Accessories.

Consolidated revenues declined in the Radio Networks, Head-
sets, and Systems unit by 34.2 % year-on-year.

Revenues in the Vibration Technology and Helmet Communica-
tion unit fell by 63.7 %. 
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This decline in revenues in the two divisions is due in particular 
to the major order placed by the German Armed Forces for  
CT- DECT JetCom systems with helmet-integrated CT-Contact-
Com, the last batch of which was delivered and invoiced in the 
previous year.

Revenues generated by products from the In-ear-headset and 
Covert Communication unit rose by 32.5 % year-on-year, with 
the wide range of models for the new CT-ClipCom headset play-
ing a major role.

In the Cable-bound Audio Communication and Accessories unit, 
revenues in fiscal year 2009 / 2010 fell by 38.9 % as against the 
previous year.

The trend in the Video / Data Communication unit was extremely 
positive, with revenues rising by a substantial 48.4 % in fiscal 
year 2009 / 2010. Revenues in the Service division rose by 23.3 % 
year-on-year in fiscal year 2009 / 2010.

Since revenues had been expected to decline in the period un-
der review, potential cost savings were analyzed and implemen-
ted in a timely manner. This resulted, amongst other things, in 
the introduction of short-time working in Germany, in investments 
being postponed, and in other cost savings.

IFRSs
The financial statements contained in CeoTronics’ 2009 / 2010 
Annual Report were prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs). The consolidated fi-
nancial statements were and will continue to be prepared in 
the future in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the E.U. at 
the time the financial statements were prepared.

Cost of sales ratio up
The ratio of the cost of sales to revenues in the reporting period 
increased to 53.5 % (previous year: 48.5 %).

At €2,880 thousand, operating expenses fell by -6.7 % as against 
the previous year (€3,086 thousand) and now account for 20.1 % 
of revenues (previous year: 16.4 %).

Slight rise in research and development expenses
Group research and development expenses rose by €34 
thousand (+2.0 %) year-on-year from €1,709 thousand to 
€1,743 thousand. The ratio of research and development ex-
penses to revenues increased to 12.1 % (previous year 9.1 %). 
The rise in expenses is mainly due to higher employees ex-
penses at CT-Video GmbH.

Selling and marketing expenses
Although selling and marketing expenses rose to 29.9 % of re-
venues in fiscal year 2009 / 2010 (previous year: 24.5 %), abso-
lute costs (€4,290 thousand) were down significantly on the 
previous year (€4,610 thousand).

General and administrative expenses 
General and administrative costs increased by €63 thousand 
year-on-year in fiscal year 2009 / 2010 to €1,516 thousand and 
now account for 10.6 % of revenues (previous year: 8.4 %).

EBITDA and EBIT
As expected, EBITDA and EBIT in the period under review 
could not be maintained at the level seen in the previous year 
due to the decline in revenues. EBITDA for fiscal year 
2009 / 2010 amounted to €102 thousand (previous year: €2,533 
thousand) and EBIT to € 1,130 thousand (previous year: 
€2,006 thousand).

EBIT of €643 thousand (€615 thousand after taking exchange 
rate effects into account) was impacted by a non-cash impair-
ment loss recognized due to the impairment of CeoTronics 
U.S.A.’s goodwill (see also under “Consolidated loss for the 
period”). Without the one-time factor mentioned above, EBIT 
would have been €-487 thousand.

Consolidated loss before tax
In fiscal year 2009 / 2010, CeoTronics’ consolidated loss before 
tax amounted to €1,297 thousand after a consolidated profit 
before tax of €1,906 thousand in the previous year.

The return on sales based on the consolidated loss before tax 
amounted to -9.0 % (previous year: 10.1 %).
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Without the one-time factor mentioned above, the consolida-
ted loss before tax would have been €654 thousand, and the 
corresponding return on sales -4.6 %.

Consolidated loss for the period
The consolidated loss for the period for fiscal year 2009 / 2010 
amounted to €1,396 thousand following a consolidated profit 
of €1,279 thousand in the previous year.

The return on sales based on the consolidated loss for the 
period amounted to -9.7 % (previous year: 6.8 %).

The share of the consolidated loss for the period attributable to 
shareholders of the parent for fiscal year 2009 / 2010 amoun-
ted to €1,383 thousand (previous year: shared of the consoli-
dated profit of €1,266 thousand).

Consolidated earnings per share (after tax) were €-0.21, after 
€0.19 in the previous year. 

The consolidated loss for the period was impacted both by the 
above-mentioned impairment loss recognized due to the im-
pairment of CeoTronics U.S.A.’s goodwill (see under “EBITDA 
and EBIT”) and by the fact that deferred tax assets reported for 
tax loss carryforwards at CeoTronics U.S.A. in the amount of 
€280 thousand were no longer recognized. As CeoTronics 
U.S.A.’s balance sheet assets were largely written down as a 
result of these one-time factors, no material effects are expec-
ted on long-term earnings due to additional writedowns.

Without the influence of these one-time factors, the consolida-
ted loss before tax would have amounted to €473 thousand, 
the share of the consolidated loss for the period attributable to 
shareholders of the parent would have been €460 thousand, 
earnings per share would have been €-0.07, and the return on 
sales would have been -3.2 %

High equity level and equity ratio
Equity as of May 31, 2010 fell to €10,863 thousand (previous 
year: €13,144 thousand). The equity ratio was 68.7 % after 
72.5 % in the previous year. Despite the slight decline in the 
equity ratio, the CeoTronics Group continues to have a very 
good equity base.

Gross cash flow 
Gross cash flow amounted to €-164 thousand in fiscal year 
2009 / 2010, against €1,806 thousand in the previous year.

Ample cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents as of May 31, 2010 declined by 
€208 thousand year-on-year, from €566 thousand to €358 
thousand.

High level of investments
Despite the ongoing global economic crisis, CeoTronics has 
prepared itself in good time over many years to meet future 
challenges by investing in employee capacity, market develop-
ment, technologies, new developments, and production tech-
niques and processes, and has already made the necessary 
investments. 

As a result, it was able to reduce investments in fiscal year 
2009 / 2010 by €161 thousand year-on-year to a total of €832 
thousand. 

Headcount
CeoTronics reduced the number of employees (including trai-
nees) working for it by one person from 155 in the previous 
year to 154 as of May 31, 2010. In Germany, three new emplo-
yees were recruited for the Research and Development unit, 
while the number of administrative employees was reduced by 
two. The headcount in the foreign subsidiaries was cut by two 
field sales representatives. 

Additional temporary but significantly more extensive capacity 
reductions were achieved by introducing short-time working at 
locations in Germany.

Order backlog and incoming orders up year-on-year
The order backlog as of May 31, 2010 was up 7.9 % year-on-
year to €2,409 thousand. Incoming orders surged in the fourth 
quarter of fiscal year 2009 / 2010, rising 44.6 %.

Events after the balance sheet date
CeoTronics AG filed an application with Deutsche Börse to 
withdraw from listing on the Regulated Market (General Stan-
dard / Prime Standard) on July 22, 2010. Once the withdrawal 
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becomes effective – subject to the approval of the Frankfurt 
Stock Exchange – the aim is for CeoTronics AG’s shares to 
continue trading in the Entry Standard of the Frankfurt Stock 
Exchange.

Hans-Dieter Günther, the Chairman of the Supervisory Board, 
announced on July 30, 2010 that he would be resigning on Au-
gust 31, 2010 for health reasons. He will be replaced by Mat-
thias Löw, Rodgau, the alternate Supervisory Board member.

Group risk management
As in previous years, CeoTronics continued to fulfill its obligations 
in the reporting period to perform active risk management.

As part of the risk management process, new risks were iden-
tified and then analyzed and evaluated in conjunction with pre-
viously identified risks. The measures derived from this were 
implemented and the risk management manual modified. Im-
plementation was checked.

The objective of this process is to weigh up business opportu-
nities and the risks resulting from them in a reasonable man-
ner. It is crucial not only to document the risk management 
process, but also for management to apply it in practice. This 
requires the Supervisory Board, Board of Management, exe-
cutives, and employees to perform their risk management 
tasks in a highly responsible way.

The findings of the risk analysis were discussed in depth by 
the Board of Management and the Supervisory Board.

a.) Price and currency risk

The CeoTronics Group is exposed to price and currency fluctu-
ations because of its international business operations. 89 % 
of all revenues are generated in euros, and the remaining 11 % 
are generated in foreign currencies (U.S. dollars, Polish zloty, 
and Swiss francs). Because the consolidated financial state-
ments are prepared in euros, fluctuations between the euro 
and the corresponding foreign currencies have a not insignifi-
cant effect on the level of revenues and of individual income 
and expense items. However, currency risks are mitigated by 
operating business locations in the corresponding countries; in 

addition to generating revenues in foreign currency, these also 
incur expenses in the same currency. No specific currency 
hedging transactions have been entered into in the past.

b.) Market risk

As a rule, the CeoTronics Group is not significantly dependent 
on individual customers (10 % of Group revenues). An aggre-
gate of 11.0 % of total Group revenues was generated with a 
single customer in the past fiscal year. The revenue break-
down is expected to return to normal in the coming years.

The share of the CeoTronics Group’s aggregate procurement 
volume attributable to individual suppliers was significantly 
less than 10 % during the past fiscal year. 

Because of the strongly competitive environment, the CeoTronics 
Group is faced with the need to continuously upgrade existing 
products and to drive forward the development of new pro-
ducts. The goal is to reinforce and extend the Company’s exis-
ting technical lead over its competitors. A high degree of inno-
vation and advanced technology reduces price pressure and 
thus mitigates price risk. In the past, the high level of research 
and development expenditures incurred to achieve this have 
always been amortized in the medium term.

c.) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk, i.e., the risk of exposure to possible fluctua-
tions in the value of financial instruments because of changes 
in market rates of interest, may arise in relation to medium-and 
long-term interest-bearing receivables and liabilities in particu-
lar. There are no medium- and long-term interest-bearing re-
ceivables  in the Group. In addition to the existing loan for a 
property in Lutherstadt-Eisleben, a loan of €2,100 thousand 
was raised in fiscal year 2006 / 2007 to finance the acquisition 
of a property in Rödermark. The fixed-interest period for the 
existing loans does not expire until 2016. Assuming that the 
loans are repaid as provided for in the contracts, the remaining 
value of the loans after expiration of the fixed-interest period 
will be €1,141 thousand. No interest rate hedges have been 
entered into so far due to the long term of the fixed-interest 
period and the long remaining maturity of the loans.



Annual Report  09 / 10

Group Management Report  I  37

d.) Liquidity risk

In many cases, CeoTronics AG makes advance payments for 
substantial materials purchases, especially for large orders, 
although the orders themselves are not invoiced and settled 
until months later. To mitigate this risk, CeoTronics AG has ag-
reed several lines of credit with banks. This safeguards ade-
quate liquidity in the Group at all times.

e.) Default risk

The carrying amount of the financial assets represents the ma-
ximum value at risk if business partners do not meet their con-
tractual payment obligations. To keep default risk to a mini-
mum, CeoTronics AG has established a comprehensive 
receivables management system that ensures that credit qua-
lity information is obtained or historical data – and in particular 
payment patterns – from the existing business relationship is 
used to avoid payment default. If default risks are identified for 
individual financial assets, these risks are taken into account in 
the form of valuation allowances. In the past fiscal year, bad 
debts amounted to €12 thousand or 0.09 % of revenues (previ-
ous year: €31 thousand or 0.16 % of revenues).

f.) Other risks

The German Financial Reporting Enforcement Panel (FREP) 
has raised doubts about the correctness of information contai-
ned in the consolidated financial statements for fiscal year 
2008 / 2009 following a non-indication-based examination in 
accordance with section 342b (2) sentence 3 number 3 of the 
HGB. For more information on the non-indication-based exa-
mination carried out by the FREP, see the notes to the conso-
lidated financial statements for fiscal year 2009 / 2010.

Report in accordance with section 315(2) number 5 of the 
HGB
According to the explanatory memorandum to the Bilanzmoder-
nisierungsgesetz (BilMoG – German Accounting Law Moderni-
zation Act), the internal control system comprises the principles, 
techniques, and measures used to ensure the effectiveness and 
economic efficiency of the financial reporting process, the prop-
riety of the accounting, and adherence to the applicable legal 

provisions. This also includes the internal audit system to the 
extent that it concerns financial reporting. 

The risk management system for the financial reporting process, 
as a component of the internal control system, applies like the 
latter to the financial reporting control and monitoring process, 
particularly in the case of items in the Company’s financial ac-
counts that cover the Company’s risk hedging.

Material characteristics of the internal control and risk 
management system relevant for the financial reporting 
process
The material characteristics of CeoTronics AG’s internal control 
and risk management system relevant for the financial re-
porting process can be described as follows:
• �The CeoTronics Group has clear organizational, corporate, 

and control and monitoring structures.
• �Coordinated planning, reporting, control, and early warning 

systems and processes exist for the end-to-end analysis and 
management of risk factors that could affect earnings and of 
going-concern risks.

• �Functional responsibilities have been clearly defined for all 
areas of the financial reporting process (e.g., financial ac-
counting, controlling). 

• �The IT systems employed for accounting are secured against 
unauthorized access.

• �The financial systems employed primarily consist of standard 
software.

• �Adequate internal policies (including a risk management 
handbook) are in place and are adapted as needed.

• �The completeness and accuracy of accounting data are regu-
larly verified on a test basis and using plausibility checks as 
well as by manual controls.

• �Material processes of relevance to accounting are subjected 
to regular analytical reviews. The existing risk management 
system is continuously updated to reflect current develop-
ments and its operational reliability is constantly checked.

• �The principle of dual control is used throughout all accoun-
ting-related processes.

• �Among other things, the Supervisory Board addresses key 
issues relating to accounting, risk management, the engage-
ment of the auditors and the areas of emphasis of the audit.
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Explanation of the material characteristics of the internal 
control system and the risk management system for the 
financial reporting process 
The internal control and risk management system for the finan-
cial reporting process, the material characteristics of which are 
described above, ensures that business matters are properly 
recorded, prepared, and assessed before being transferred to 
the external financial reporting. 

CeoTronics’ clear organizational, corporate, control, and moni-
toring structures and its allocation of adequate staff and resour-
ces to accounting form the basis for efficient work by the areas 
involved in accounting. Clear statutory provisions and internal 
rules and policies ensure uniform and proper accounting. 
Clearly defined review mechanisms within the areas involved 
in accounting and early risk identification by risk management 
guarantee correct and consistent accounting. 

The internal control and risk management system in place at 
CeoTronics AG ensures that the Company’s accounting is per-
formed in a uniform manner and that it conforms to the legal 
and statutory requirements and the internal policies. In parti-
cular, the risk management system, which is fully compliant 
with the statutory requirements, is designed to permit the time-
ly identification, evaluation, and adequate communication of 
risks. This ensures that the users of the report are provided 
with accurate, pertinent, and reliable information in a timely 
manner.

Principles of the remuneration system in accordance with 
section 315(2) number 4 of the HGB
The remuneration of the members of the Board of Management 
is stipulated by the Supervisory Board, reviewed each year, and 
adjusted if required.

The remuneration of the Board of Management consists of fixed 
and variable remuneration components.

The fixed annual salary is payable to the members of the Board 
of Management in twelve monthly installments at the end of 
the respective month. In addition, the members of the Board of 
Management are provided with a company car and a direct 
insurance policy in a defined amount is taken out on their be-

half. The package also includes health and long-term care in-
surance contributions.

Each member of the Board of Management receives a perfor-
mance-related variable remuneration component (bonus). The 
bonus amounts to 3 % of the consolidated profit before tax in 
each case, calculated in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRSs). The annual bonus is limited to 
25 % of the total annual remuneration of the member of the 
Board of Management. The bonus is payable at the end of the 
month after the annual financial statements are adopted.

Furthermore, an agreement was reached over bonuses with the 
members of the Board of Management in fiscal year 2007 / 2008, 
which provides for payment to be made in the event that the 
closing price of CeoTronics’ shares reaches or exceeds a total of 
four specified targets on ten successive days of trading. Only 
one payment is made for each of the four targets reached. This 
agreement runs until May 31, 2011.

The contracts with the members of the Board of Management 
do not provide for any severance payment awards in the event 
that their contracts of service are terminated early. 

The General Meeting on November 4, 2005 resolved that the 
salaries and other remuneration components for the members 
of the Board of Management will not be disclosed on an indivi-
dual basis in the notes to the annual financial statements of  
CeoTronics AG. This also applies to benefit commitments to the 
members of the Board of Management in the event of termination 
of their activities. The resolution applies to the fiscal year begin-
ning June 1, 2005 and to the four subsequent fiscal years until 
May 31, 2010.

The General Meeting on November 6, 2009 adopted a corres-
ponding resolution with the same content, which applies to the 
fiscal year beginning June 1, 2010 and to the four subsequent 
fiscal years until May 31, 2015.

The aggregate benefits of the Board of Management in the fis-
cal year amounted to €788 thousand (previous year: €787 
thousand). The aggregate benefits comprise fixed salary com-
ponents of €619 thousand (previous year: €585 thousand) and 
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variable remuneration components of €169 thousand (previous 
year: €202 thousand). 

Disclosures in accordance with section 315(4) of the HGB

(No. 1)
The subscribed capital of CeoTronics AG amounts to 
€6,599,994.00 and is composed of 6,599,994 no-par value 
shares with a notional value of €1.00 per share.

(No. 2)
The Board of Management is not aware of any restrictions affec-
ting the voting rights or the transfer of shares.

(No. 3)
The following shareholders hold more than 10 % of the voting 
rights as of May 31, 2010:

• Hans-Dieter Günther, 16,87 %
• Dagmar Günther, 13,21 %
• �Horst Schöppner 12,35 %, a total of 810,410 voting rights, of 

which 810,400 voting rights are held via Schöppner Vermö-
gensverwaltung GbR, Rödermark, Germany.

(No. 4)
There are no CeoTronics AG shares with special rights.

(No. 5)
No employees exercise control of voting rights.

(No. 6)
The statutory provisions and the provisions of the Articles of 
Association governing the appointment and dismissal of mem-
bers of the Board of Management and amendments to the Ar-
ticles of Association are as follows:

a.) Appointment of members of the Board of Management

In accordance with section 84 (1) sentence 1 of the Aktienge-
setz (AktG – German Stock Corporation Act), the Supervisory 
Board appoints the members of the Board of Management for 
a maximum of five years. Reappointment or an extension of 
the member’s term of office is permissible for a maximum of 

five years in each case. In accordance with Article 9 of the Ar-
ticles of Association, the Board of Management of CeoTronics 
AG consists of at least two members; above and beyond this, 
the Supervisory Board determines the number of members of 
the Board of Management. The Supervisory Board can appoint 
a Chairman of the Board of Management and a Deputy Chair-
man of the Board of Management. Furthermore, the Supervi-
sory Board can appoint alternate members of the Board of 
Management. The Articles of Association do not explicitly spe-
cify the term of office for members of the Board of Manage-
ment. As a rule, members of the Board of Management are 
appointed for five-year terms.

In accordance with section 84 (1) sentence 3 of the Aktienge-
setz, the reappointment or extension of a member’s term of 
office requires a further resolution by the Supervisory Board, 
which may be adopted at the earliest one year before the 
member’s current term of office expires.

In accordance with section 84 (1) sentence 4 of the Aktienge-
setz, the extension of a member’s term of office may be provi-
ded for without a new resolution by the Supervisory Board if 
the member has been appointed for less than five years, pro-
vided that, as a result of this extension, the total term of office 
does not exceed five years.

In accordance with section 85 (1) of the Aktiengesetz, in the 
event that the Board of Management lacks a required member, 
the court must appoint such member in urgent cases at the 
request of an interested party. The decision may be appealed 
immediately. In accordance with section 85 (2) of the Aktienge-
setz, the term of the court-appointed member of the Board of 
Management expires as soon as a replacement member has 
been found.

b.) Dismissal of members of the Board of Management

In accordance with section 84 (3) of the Aktiengesetz, the Su-
pervisory Board may revoke the appointment of a member of 
the Board of Management or the appointment of the chairman 
of the Board of Management for cause. In accordance with 
section 84 (3) sentence 2 of the Aktiengesetz, such cause is in 
particular a gross breach of duty, inability to properly manage 
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the business, or a vote of no confidence by the General Mee-
ting, unless the vote of no confidence has been taken for evi-
dently subjective reasons. In accordance with section 84 (3) 
sentence 4 of the Aktiengesetz, the revocation of an appoint-
ment to the Board of Management shall be effective until its 
ineffectiveness has been declared final and absolute by a 
court.

c.) Amendments to the Articles of Association

Under section 179 (1) of the Aktiengesetz, a resolution by the 
General Meeting shall be required for any amendment to the 
Articles of Association. However, under Article 10 (15) of the 
Articles of Association in conjunction with section 179 (1) sen-
tence 2 of the Aktiengesetz, the Supervisory Board is autho-
rized to resolve amendments to the Articles of Association that 
relate to the formal wording only.

Under section 179 (2) sentence 1 of the Aktiengesetz, a reso-
lution to amend the Articles of Association by the General Mee-
ting shall require a majority of at least three-quarters of the 
share capital represented at the vote on the resolution. Under 
section 179 (2) sentence 2 of the Aktiengesetz, the Articles of 
Association may require a different capital majority (in the case 
of an amendment to the purpose of the Company, however, 
they may only stipulate a larger capital majority) and may lay 
down further requirements. Article 11 (9) of the Articles of Asso-
ciation also stipulates that, apart from the cases in which the 
law requires a different majority, the resolutions by the General 
Meeting may be adopted by a simple majority of votes cast.

Furthermore it should be noted that, in particular, resolutions 
by the General Meeting to increase the share capital against 
contributions, to create contingent capital, to create authorized 
capital, to increase the capital from retained earnings, and to 
reduce the share capital all require a majority of at least three-
quarters of the share capital represented at the vote on the 
resolution in accordance with section 182 (1) sentence 1, sec-
tion 193 (1) sentence 1, section 202 (2) sentence 2, section 
207 (2) sentence 1, and section 222 (1) sentence 1 of the Akti-
engesetz.

(No. 7)
The Board of Management has the following powers, in parti-
cular concerning its authorization to issue and repurchase 
shares:

a.) General powers of the Board of Management

The Board of Management manages CeoTronics AG and re-
presents it both in and out of court. The members of the Board 
of Management must manage the Company’s business in ac-
cordance with the law, the Articles of Association, the rules of 
procedure for the Board of Management and its schedule of 
responsibilities, as well as the Supervisory Board approval re-
quirements in accordance with section 111 (4) sentence 2 of 
the Aktiengesetz.

b.) Powers to issue shares

In accordance with Article 7 (3a) of the Articles of Association, 
the Board of Management is authorized, with the approval of 
the Supervisory Board, to increase the share capital in the pe-
riod up to November 3, 2010 by an aggregate amount of up to 
€3,299,994.00 by issuing no-par value bearer shares against 
cash or non-cash contributions on one or more occasions, and 
to issue the corresponding number of no-par value shares. 
The Board of Management is authorized, with the approval of 
the Supervisory Board, to disapply shareholders’ preemptive 
rights to the issue in the following cases:
• �For fractions used to round the amounts of capital increa-

ses.
• �In the case of capital increases against cash contributions, if 

the capital increase does not exceed ten percent of the share 
capital (currently 659,999 shares) and the issue price is not 
materially lower than the applicable stock exchange price. 
The applicable stock exchange price is the average price of 
the Company’s shares in floor trading in Frankfurt (or a com-
parable successor system) during the last three trading days 
before the resolution by the Board of Management to issue 
new shares. If the new shares are subscribed by an under-
writer with a simultaneous commitment by the underwriter to 
offer the new shares for sale to one or more third parties de-
signated by the Company, the issue price under this authori-
zation shall be the amount payable by the third party or parties.
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• �If the capital is increased against non-cash contributions for 
the purpose of acquiring companies, parts of companies, or 
investments in companies.

The Board of Management was also authorized, with the ap-
proval of the Supervisory Board, to determine the further de-
tails of the rights attached to the shares and the other details 
of the capital increases and their implementation.

c.) Powers to repurchase shares

In accordance with section 71 (1) of the Aktiengesetz, the 
Company may only acquire own shares:

• �if the acquisition is necessary to prevent serious and immi-
nent damage to the Company (section 71 (1) no. 1 of the 
Aktiengesetz),

• �if the shares are to be offered for sale to persons who are or 
were employed by the Company or by one of its affiliates 
(section 71 (1) no. 2 of the Aktiengesetz),

• �if the acquisition is made to compensate shareholders in ac-
cordance with section 305 (2), section 320b of the Aktienge-
setz, or section 29 (1), section 125 sentence 1 in conjunction 
with section 29 (1), section 207 (1) sentence 1 of the Um-
wandlungsgesetz (German Reorganization and Transforma-
tion Act) (section 71 (1) no. 3 of the Aktiengesetz),

• �if the acquisition is made without compensation or entails a 
bank executing a commission transaction as agent (section 
71 (1) no. 4 of the Aktiengesetz),

• �by way of universal succession (section 71 (1) no. 5 of the 
Aktiengesetz),

• �by way of a resolution by the General Meeting to retire shares 
in accordance with the provisions on the reduction of the 
share capital (section 71 (1) no. 6 of the Aktiengesetz), and

• �by way of a resolution to acquire own shares in accordance 
with section 71 (1) no. 8 of the Aktiengesetz.

The shares acquired in accordance with section 71 (1) nos. 1 
to 3 and no. 8 of the Aktiengesetz, together with other shares 
of the Company that the Company has acquired or still holds, 
may not account for more than 10 % of the share capital. Fur-
thermore, such acquisition is only permitted if the Company is 
able to set up the reserve for own shares required under sec-

tion 272 (4) of the HGB without reducing the share capital or a 
reserve required by law or in accordance with the Articles of 
Association that may not be utilized for payments to sharehol-
ders.

The General Meeting on November 6, 2009 authorized the 
Board of Management of CeoTronics AG in accordance with 
section 71 (1) no. 8 of the Aktiengesetz to purchase own sha-
res with a notional interest in the share capital accruing to these 
shares in the aggregate amount of up to €659,999.00 until  
November 5, 2014.

(No. 8)
There are no material agreements of the Company that take 
effect in the event of a change of control following a takeover 
bid.

(No. 9)
There are no compensation arrangements agreed by the Com-
pany with the members of the Board of Management or emplo-
yees in the event of a takeover bid.

Report on expected developments
a.) Market and sector development

CeoTronics expects the global economy to recover slowly in 
fiscal years 2010 / 2011 and 2011 / 2012. The continued low le-
vel of capital spending by companies worldwide and the ongo-
ing strained situation on the labor markets in many countries 
are preventing a quick return to the growth rates seen before 
the global economic crisis. However, the economic stimulus 
programs implemented by the leading industrial nations and 
the stable development recorded by the emerging markets 
should have a positive effect.

In Europe, the Greek crisis and its consequences is impacting 
investment behavior as well. This also applies to Spain, Italy, 
and Portugal in particular.

Germany appears to be one of only a few of the major nations 
to emerge stronger than before from the crisis. The labor mar-
ket is surprisingly stable and economic indicators are in positi-
ve territory. German exporters in particular are profiting from 
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the start of the upturn. The government’s economic stimulus 
measures are also yielding results.

The investment backlog should gradually start to ease after 
the entire sector suffered from a reluctance to invest, espe-
cially on the part of public-sector customers, in the past fiscal 
year.

Germany’s switch to digital radio, which started in fiscal year 
2009 / 2010, offers the sector substantial revenue potential. 
Preparations are also being made in Northern Europe to switch 
to digital radio. In Germany, CeoTronics also expects major in-
vestments to be made by security authorities and organiza-
tions, the German Armed Forces, firefighters, and industry. 
The market launch of the new generation of Tetrapol radios in 
countries that have already switched to digital radio will offer 
additional revenue potential. This also applies to replacements 
and follow-on orders in those markets that switched to digital 
radio years ago.

b.) Corporate development

CeoTronics will not change its strategy, even in economically 
difficult times. The Company has prepared itself in good time 
in past fiscal years to meet future challenges by making targe-
ted investments in employee capacity, technologies, market 
development, new developments, and production techniques 
and processes and has made the necessary investments.

To this extent, CeoTronics has laid the foundations to profit 
from the recovery in the overall economy as well as from the 
end to muted spending by public-sector customers and the 
switch to digital radio in particular.

c.) Opportunities of future development

The switch to digital radio by the police, firefighters, and indus-
trial enterprises in Germany and Northern Europe as well as 
the switch to a new generation of digital radio equipment in 
Switzerland and possibly also in Spain will offer CeoTronics 
substantial market potential for audio products in the coming 
years.

Apart from the European markets that are profiting from the 
switch to digital radio, North America is the market with the 
greatest sales potential for CeoTronics’ products. Our success-
ful sales and improved visibility in the United States resulting 
from our sales activities and marketing investments to date re-
inforce the assumption that CeoTronics U.S.A. can further in-
crease its revenues in the coming fiscal years. The expansion 
of the product portfolio to include CT-MultiCom – for firefigh-
ters, among others – and CT-ClipCom Digital – for SWAT 
teams, for example – as well as the establishment of a stron-
ger indirect sales channel will contribute to this.

CT video systems will play an even more important role in figh-
ting crime and terrorism in future. Evidence to support this as-
sumption can be seen from public authority investments in 
monitoring areas at risk – especially those that are temporarily 
endangered – and in securing video evidence, as well as  
CT-Video GmbH’s product innovations.

d.) Risks of future development

If CeoTronics does not participate to the desired extent in the 
switch to digital radio by security authorities and organizations, 
firefighters, and industrial enterprises in Germany and Nort-
hern Europe, this could have an adverse effect on CeoTronics 
AG’s budgeted revenues and earnings.

If the launch of digital radio and the switch to a new generation 
of digital radio devices in Spain and Switzerland are not conti-
nued and implemented in the near future, there is a risk that 
the CeoTronics companies in Spain and Switzerland will not be 
able to maintain the level of revenues seen in recent years in 
the coming fiscal years.

Despite every effort being made, a continued decline in the 
revenues and earnings trend in France in fiscal year 2010 / 2011 
cannot be ruled out.

Competitors, radio manufacturers and dealers, and importers 
are stepping up their efforts to penetrate CeoTronics’ markets 
– especially Germany – using cheap products from Asia, 
among other things, in order to win tenders during the switch 
to digital radio. CeoTronics will remain positioned in the premi-
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um segment and will continue to attempt to keep price accep-
tance and the appreciation of its products and systems at a 
high level by offering outstanding quality and performance. No-
netheless, we will offer more economical standard products 
and components at the expense of European content in speci-
fic competitive situations and where the cheapest entry-level 
price is the key driver for customers.

A renewed recession or a delay in the economic recovery in 
CeoTronics’ priority markets could negatively affect Group de-
velopment.

e.) Outlook

The start of the switch to digital radio, the new projects we are 
working on, our product innovations, our increased order back-
log as of May 31, 2010, and the incoming orders we received 
in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2009 / 2010 justify a positive 
outlook in Germany for fiscal year 2010 / 2011, with a signifi-
cant increase in revenues and annual earnings that are clearly 
in positive territory.

In the rest of Europe, the migration to the new generation of 
digital radios in Switzerland and possibly Spain will be key fac-
tors contributing to rising revenues and earnings in fiscal year 
2010 / 2011.

CeoTronics expects a further increase in U.S. market revenues 
in fiscal year 2010 / 2011. According to current planning, ear-
nings will be negative.

CeoTronics will continue to profit from the switch to digital radio 
in Germany and Europe in fiscal year 2011 / 2012, as well as 
from greater investment in internal and external security. Ac-
cording to our current information and estimates, revenues 
and earnings for the year will rise further. The same also ap-

plies to the U.S. market, with the aim here being to further re-
duce losses.

CeoTronics is currently aiming to achieve the planned revenue 
increases in the coming fiscal years with its existing workforce. 
In addition, CeoTronics intends to maintain investments at a 
high level to defend its market leadership. 

In keeping with tradition and in line with the principle of the 
continuity of financial reporting, CeoTronics expects to an-
nounce its revenue and earnings forecasts for fiscal year 
2010 / 2011 (approximate figures, in euros) in January 2011, 
when it publishes its interim results for the first half of the year. 
By then, we should have enough information to give a reliable 
forecast.

It is not currently possible to issue detailed multi-year projec-
tions for the CeoTronics Group, as many parameters cannot be 
estimated reliably and the global economic climate is uncer-
tain. Providing information about potential revenues, EBIT, and 
earnings ranges for periods of two or more years would not 
improve transparency since the spread is too wide. This is due, 
among other things, to the role played by the switch to digital 
radio, which could potentially have substantial positive or ne-
gative effects.

Rödermark, August 13, 2010

CeoTronics AG
Audio • Video • Data Communication

Thomas H. Günther
Chairman of the Board of Management

Günther Thoma
Chief Operating Officer

Berthold Hemer
Deputy Chairman of the Board of Management
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€ thousand Note May 31, 2010 May 31, 2009

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 9 358 566

Trade receivables 10 2,396 3,577

Inventories 11 4,648 4,919

Other current assets 12 409 418

Total current assets 7,811 9,480

Noncurrent assets

Property, plant, and equipment 13 6,359 6,091

Intangible assets 13 309 355

Goodwill 13 634 1,269

Trade receivables 10 247 374

Deferred tax assets 14 457 572

Total noncurrent assets 8,006 8,661

Total assets 15,817 18,141

IFRS Balance Sheet – Assets



Annual Report  09 / 10

Consolidated Financial Statement  I  45

€ thousand Note May 31, 2010 May 31, 2009

Current liabilities

Current financial liabilities 15 747 260

Trade payables 16 286 682

Advance payments received 36 37

Provisions 17 762 1,177

Current tax payables 51 252

Other current liabilities 18 244 418

Total current liabilities 2,126 2,826

Noncurrent liabilities

Noncurrent financial liabilities 15 2,744 2,087

Deferred tax liabilities 19 84 84

Total noncurrent liabilities 2,828 2,171

Equity

Subscribed capital 20 6,600 6,600

Capital reserves 20 4,471 4,471

Retained earnings 20 16 886

Accumulated other comprehensive income -253 -47

Net retained profits / net accumulated losses -19 1,160

Equity attributable to shareholders of CeoTronics AG 20 10,815 13,070

Minority interest 21 48 74

Total equity 10,863 13,144

Total equity and liabilities 15,817 18,141

IFRS Balance Sheet – Equity and Liabilities
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IFRS Income Statement

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

€ thousand Note 2009 / 2010 2008 / 2009

Revenues 22 14,361 18,815

Cost of sales 23 -7,680 -9,132

Gross profit 6,681 9,683

46.52 % 51.46 %

Selling and marketing expenses -4,290 -4,610

General and administrative expenses -1,516 -1,579

Research and development expenses 24 -1,743 -1,709

Other operating income and expenses 27 381 221

Goodwill impairment 26 -643 0

Operating profit (EBIT) -1,130 2,006

Interest income / expense 28 -167 -100

Profit / loss before tax -1,297 1,906

Income tax expense 29 -99 -627

Consolidated profit / loss -1,396 1,279

Consolidatedt profit / loss attributable to:	 Minority interest 30 -13 13

	 Shareholders of CeoTronics AG 30 -1,383 1,266

Earnings per share (basic) in € -0.21 0.19

Earnings per share (diluted) in € -0.21 0.19

46  I  Consolidated Financial Statement

€ thousand Note 2009 / 2010 2008 / 2009

Consolidated profit / loss -1,396 1,279

Exchange differences on translating foreign operatings -219 -97

Total comprehensive income -1,615 1,182

Of which attributable to:

- minority interests -20 29

- shareholders of CeoTronics AG -1,595 1,153
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€ thousand 2009 / 2010 2008 / 2009

Cash flow from operating activities

Profit / loss before tax -1,297 1,906

Income tax expense -99 -627

Consolidated profit / loss -1,396 1,279

Depreciation, amortization, and impairment losses 1,232 527

Gross cash flow -164 1,806

Changes in assets and liabilities

Change in trade receivables 1,308 2,645

Change in inventories 271 -502

Change in other assets 9 -31

Change in trade payables -396 26

Change in advance payments received -1 -4

Change in other provisions -415 -222

Change in tax payables -201 -410

Change in other current liabilities -174 -275

Change in deferred tax assets 115 -53

Change in deferred tax liabilities 0 84

Total changes in assets and liabilities 516 1,258

Net cash provided by operating activities 352 3,064

Cash flow from investing activities

Payments to acquire intangible assets -79 -159

Payments to acquire property, plant, and equipment -755 -834

Change in currency translation adjustments -16 -71

Disposal of noncurrent assets (net carrying amounts) 31 0

Net cash used in investing activities -819 -1,064

Cash flow from financing activities

Change in current financial liabilities 487 -1,164

Change in noncurrent financial liabilities 657 -76

Dividend payment to minority interest -6 -15

Dividend payment to shareholders of CeoTronics AG -660 -990

Net cash provided by / used in financing activities 478 -2,245

Change in cash and cash equivalents 11 -245

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents -219 -97

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 566 908

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 358 566

Consolidated Financial Statement  I  47
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IFRS Statement of Changes in Equity

Equity attributable to shareholders of CeoTronics AG

€ thousand
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Balance at May 31, 2008 6,600 4,471 16 870 898 52 12,907 60 12,967

Total comprehensive 
income 1,252 -99 1,153 29 1,182

Dividends paid -990 -990 -15 -1,005

Balance at May 31, 2009 6,600 4,471 16 870 1,160 -47 13,070 74 13,144

Total comprehensive 
income -1,389 -206 -1,595 -20 -1,615

Withdrawal from retained 
earnings -870 870 0 0

Dividends paid -660 -660 -6 -666

Balance at May 31, 2010 6,600 4,471 16 0 -19 -253 10,815 48 10,863
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IFRS Statement of Changes in Noncurrent Assets

Cost Cumulative depreciation, amorti-
zation, and impairment losses

Carrying 
amounts

€ thousand
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Property, plant, and equipment

Land, land rights, 
and buildings, 
including buildings 
on third-party land

5,264 0 9 2 465 5,736 618 0 112 0 730 5,006 4,646

Technical equip-
ment and machi-
nery

2,280 5 123 6 135 2,537 1,754 4 183 7 1,934 603 526

Other equipment, 
operating and 
office equipment 

1,922 18 211 53 0 2,098 1,444 10 171 23 1,602 496 478

Prepayments and 
assets under cons-
truction

442 0 412 0 -600 254 0 0 0 0 0 254 442

9,908 23 755 61 0 10,625 3,816 14 466 30 4,266 6,359 6,092

Intangible assets

Concessions, in-
dustrial and similar 
rights and assets, 
and licenses in 
such rights and 
assets

812 0 79 6 30 915 488 0 124 6 606 309 324

Prepayments on 
intangible assets 30 0 0 0 -30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 30

842 0 79 6 0 915 488 0 124 6 606 309 354

Goodwill 1,372 114 0 14 0 1,472 103 106 643 14 838 634 1,269

12,122 137 834 81 0 13,012 4,407 120 1,233 50 5,710 7,302 7,715
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Basis of Preparation and Accounting Policies

(1) Business Activities / Information on the Company
CeoTronics AG, domiciled in 63322 Rödermark, Germany 
(Adam-Opel-Strasse 6), is the parent company of the CeoTronics 
Group and is a listed stock corporation incorporated under the 
laws of Germany. The Company is entered in the commercial 
register of the Offenbach Local Court (number HRB 34104).

The Company’s business activities comprise the development, 
design, production, and sale of electronic audio, video, and data 
communication systems, personal protective equipment with and 
without communications facilities, as well as wholesale and retail 
trading of these systems and other electronic devices, including 
their import and export, and all related activities in any form.

CeoTronics AG, Rödermark (hereafter “CeoTronics AG”) and 
CT-Video GmbH, Lutherstadt Eisleben (“CT-Video GmbH”) are 
production and sales companies.

The

• �CeoTronics S.à.r.l., Brie Comte Robert / France (“CeoTronics 
France”)

• �CeoTronics AG, Rotkreuz / Switzerland (“CeoTronics Switzer-
land”)

• CeoTronics S.L., Madrid / Spain (“CeoTronics Spain”)
• CeoTronics Sp. z o.o., Lodz / Poland (“CeoTronics Poland”)
• �CeoTronics Inc., Virginia Beach, Virginia / U.S.A. (“CeoTronics 

U.S.A.”)

subsidiaries are solely sales companies.

Our subsidiaries in Spain, Poland, and the U.S.A. offer local 
after-sales service.

The subsidiaries primarily sell the products developed by the 
parent company.

The majority of subsidiaries restrict their sales activities mainly to 
the countries in which they are domiciled. The parent company 
predominantly sells its products in Germany and in countries in 
which it is not represented by a subsidiary.

CeoTronics AG and its subsidiary CT-Video GmbH also under-
take research and development activities.

(2) Basis of Preparation of the Consolidated Financial State-
ments
CeoTronics AG is a parent within the meaning of section 290 of 
the HGB (German Commercial Code).

The consolidated financial statements of CeoTronics AG and its 
subsidiaries were prepared in accordance with the International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) issued by the Internati-
onal Accounting Standards Board (IASB), reflecting the Inter-
pretations issued by the International Financial Reporting In-
terpretations Committee (IFRIC), as adopted by the European 
Union. The requirements of German commercial law under 
section 315a(1) of the HGB were also complied with. All IFRSs 
issued by the IASB that were valid at the date of preparation of 
the accompanying consolidated financial statements and applied 
by CeoTronics AG were endorsed by the European Commission 
for application in the EU. The consolidated financial statements 
prepared by CeoTronics AG therefore comply with the IFRSs 
as adopted by the EU, and the supplementary requirements of 
German commercial law under section 315a(1) of the HGB.

The consolidated financial statements were prepared in eu-
ros. Unless otherwise indicated, all amounts are presented in 
thousands of euros (€ thousand). The balance sheet is classi-
fied by the maturities of assets and liabilities. Assets and liabi-
lities that will be sold, used in the normal course of business, 
or settled within twelve months are classified as current. Liabi-
lities are classified as current if they will be settled within twel-
ve months of the reporting date. The income statement has 
been prepared using the function of expense method. Items 
of the balance sheet and income statement that have been 
combined to enhance the clarity of presentation are explained 
in the notes. The accompanying consolidated financial state-
ments comply with the supplementary disclosure provisions of 
section 315a(1) of the HGB.

The annual financial statements of the companies included in 
the consolidated financial statements have been prepared as 
of the reporting date of the consolidated financial statements 
and are based on uniform accounting policies (IAS 27).

Notes to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements of CeoTronics AG for 
Fiscal Year 2009 / 2010

50  I  Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and 
Interpretations (IFRICs) required to be applied for the first 
time in the past fiscal year

The following new Interpretations or amendments to existing 
Interpretations became effective in fiscal year 2009 / 2010:

• �The amendment to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial State-
ments is required to be applied for the first time for fiscal ye-
ars beginning on or after January 1, 2009.

• �The amendment to IAS 23 Borrowing Costs is required to be 
applied for the first time for fiscal years beginning on or after 
January 1, 2009.

• �The amendments to IAS 32 and IAS 1 regarding financial 
instruments and their presentation in the financial statements 
are required to be applied for the first time for fiscal years 
beginning on or after January 1, 2009.

• �The amendments to IAS 39 and IFRS 7 with regard to the 
reclassification of financial assets are required to be applied 
retrospectively from July 1, 2008.

• �The amendments to IFRS 1 and IAS 27 relating to the cost 
of investments in subsidiaries are required to be applied for 
the first time for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 
2009.

• �The amendment to IFRS 2 Share-based Payment is required 
to be applied for the first time for fiscal years beginning on or 
after January 1, 2009.

• �The amendment to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosu-
res is required to be applied for the first time for fiscal years 
beginning on or after January 1, 2009.

• �IFRS 8 Operating Segments is required to be applied for the 
first time for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 
2009.

• �IFRIC 9 Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives is required 
to be applied for the first time for fiscal years beginning on or 
after January 1, 2009.

• �IFRIC 12 Service Concession Arrangements is required to be 
applied for the first time for fiscal years beginning on or after 
April 1, 2009.

• �IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programs is required to be ap-
plied for the first time for fiscal years beginning on or after 
January 1, 2009.

• �IFRIC 14 IAS 19 – The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Mini-
mum Funding Requirements, and their Interaction is required 
to be applied for the first time for fiscal years beginning on or 
after January 1, 2009.

• �The Improvements to IFRSs are required to be applied for 
the first time for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 
2009 (Article 1 paragraph 2 and 4-8) or July 1, 2009 (Article 1 
paragraphs 1 and 3).

The application of IFRS 7 and 8 in particular had a direct effect 
on the consolidated financial statements of CeoTronics AG.

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and 
Interpretations (IFRICs) that are issued but not yet requi-
red to be applied

The IASB has issued the following IFRSs and IFRICs as well 
as amendments to existing Standards that were not required 
to be applied during CeoTronics AG’s past fiscal year and that 
CeoTronics AG did not adopt prior to their effective date in the 
preparation of its consolidated financial statements as of May 31, 
2010:

• �The amendment to IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Finan-
cial Statements is required to be applied for the first time for 
fiscal years beginning on or after July 1, 2009.

• �The amendment to IAS 32 on the classification of rights issu-
es is required to be applied for the first time for fiscal years 
beginning on or after February 1, 2010.

• �The amendment to IAS 39 on the recognition and measure-
ment of financial instruments is required to be applied for the 
first time for fiscal years beginning on or after July 1, 2009.

• �The amendment to IFRS 1 on the restructuring of the Stan-
dard is required to be applied for the first time for fiscal years 
beginning on or after July 1, 2009.

• �The amendment to IFRS 2 Group Cash-settled Share-based 
Payment Transactions is required to be applied for the first 
time for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2010.

• �The amendment to IFRS 3 Business Combinations is requi-
red to be applied for the first time for fiscal years beginning on 
or after July 1, 2009.
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• �IFRIC 15 Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate is 
required to be applied for the first time for fiscal years begin-
ning on or after January 1, 2010.

• �IFRIC 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation 
is required to be applied for the first time for fiscal years be-
ginning on or after July 1, 2009.

• �IFRIC 17 Distributions of Noncash Assets to Owners is requi-
red to be applied for the first time for fiscal years beginning on 
or after November 1, 2009.

• �IFRIC 18 Transfers of Assets from Customers is required to 
be applied for the first time for fiscal years beginning on or 
after November 1, 2009.

The above-mentioned Standards will not have any significant 
effects on the presentation of CeoTronics AG’s consolidated 
financial statements.

(3) Basis of Consolidation, Shareholdings
All companies that are directly or indirectly controlled by  
CeoTronics AG are consolidated from the date on which  
CeoTronics AG obtains control. They are deconsolidated as of 
the date when CeoTronics AG ceases to have control. The con-

solidated financial statements as of May 31, 2010 include the 
annual financial statements of CeoTronics AG and of the seven 
subsidiaries listed in the following (hereafter together the  
“CeoTronics Group”):

CT-Video GmbH was formed in fiscal year 1999 / 2000 and has 
been domiciled in Lutherstadt Eisleben, Germany, since that time.

CeoTronics Switzerland was originally formed in 1988 as a global 
export organization also responsible for sales in Switzerland. Since 
1997, it has operated solely as a sales company in Switzerland.

Effective May 31, 1996, CeoTronics AG acquired the remaining 
33 % interest in CeoTronics France; the company was formed 
in 1986. This interest was initially consolidated as of May 1, 
1996.

CeoTronics UK was acquired as a sales company in 1986 and 
subsequently renamed CeoTronics Ltd. CeoTronics UK’s sales 
activities ended as of March 31, 2007 and were taken over by 
CeoTronics AG.

Equity Interest Equity Profit / loss Currency

CT-Video GmbH,
Lutherstadt Eisleben / Germany 100% 2,078 198 1,000 EUR

CeoTronics AG,
Rotkreuz / Switzerland 100% 180

256
47
70

1,000 EUR
1,000 CHF

CeoTronics S.à.r.l.,
Brie Comte Robert / France 100% -460 -133 1,000 EUR

CeoTronics Ltd.,
Aberdeen / United Kingdom 100% 0

0
0
0

1,000 EUR
1,000 GBP

CeoTronics Inc.,
Virginia Beach, Virginia / U.S.A. 100% -1,821

-2,236
-632
-889

1,000 EUR
1,000 USD

CeoTronics S.L.,
Madrid / Spain 100% 401 23 1,000 EUR

CeoTronics Sp. z o.o.,
Lodz / Poland 75% 72

293
-66

-273
1,000 EUR
1,000 PLN
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CeoTronics U.S.A. was formed as a sales branch in 1992. Local 
production commenced in 1996. In 2000, the company acqui-
red the Audio Accessory Division of DTC Inc., Nashua / U.S.A.

CeoTronics Spain recommenced its sales activities in 1998. 
The company was formed in 1992. It was initially consolidated 
as of December 1, 1998.

CeoTronics AG acquired a 75 % interest in CeoTronics Poland 
in fiscal year 2001 / 2002. The company was initially consolida-
ted as of June 1, 2002. AACOM-CeoTronics Sp. z o.o. was 
renamed CeoTronics Sp. z o.o. as of June 1, 2007.

(4) Consolidation Methods

Acquisition accounting
Subsidiaries in which the parent directly or indirectly holds the 
majority of shares and hence of the voting power are consoli-
dated in accordance with the principles of acquisition accoun-
ting. The write-downs of interests in Group companies and 
the reversal of such write-downs in the single-entity financial 
statements of CeoTronics AG are eliminated in the consolida-
ted financial statements.

Acquisition accounting uses the purchase method of accoun-
ting, under which the cost of the shares acquired is eliminated 
against the parent’s share of the equity of the subsidiary at the 
date of acquisition. All identifiable assets, liabilities, and contin-
gent liabilities are recognized at their fair values and included 
in the consolidated balance sheet. Any excess of cost over the 
fair value of the net assets attributable to the Group is recog-
nized as goodwill.

As a rule, the date of initial consolidation is the date of formation 
or of the acquisition of the subsidiary concerned.

We account for the 25 % minority interest in CeoTronics Sp.  
z o.o., Lodz, Poland, by deducting the minority interest and the 
resulting effects on profit or loss within equity in the balance 
sheet, in the income statement, the cash flow statement, and 
the statement of changes in equity.

The carrying amount of goodwill remains in the balance sheet 
and is tested for impairment at least once a year on completion 
of the annual planning process and written down if necessary. 
Impairment losses on goodwill are not reversed.

Consolidation of intercompany balances
Receivables and liabilities between Group companies are eli-
minated. There were no material differences resulting from the 
consolidation of intercompany balances.

Elimination of intercompany profits
The intercompany profits of €337 thousand (previous year: 
€374 thousand) from intercompany transactions contained in 
the carrying amounts of finished goods as of May 31, 2010 
were also eliminated. Because of the decline in intercompany 
profits, a consolidation adjustment of €38 thousand (previous 
year: €144 thousand) was recognized as income as of the re-
porting date.

Consolidation of income and expenses
Revenues from intercompany deliveries, other income and ex-
penses from intragroup settlements, and investment and inte-
rest income were eliminated in the course of consolidation.

(5) Impairment Testing – Procedures and Effects
Impairment tests on assets in the CeoTronics Group compare 
the carrying amounts of the individual cash-generating units 
with their recoverable amounts, i.e., the higher of the asset’s 
net selling price and its value in use. 

Reflecting the definition of a cash-generating unit, the CeoTronics 
Group’s strategic business units are used as cash-generating 
units. In most cases, these are the individual subsidiaries 
themselves.

In those cases where the carrying amount of the cash-genera-
ting unit is higher than its recoverable amount, an impairment 
loss is recognized in the amount of the difference. The goodwill 
of the strategic business unit concerned is then written down 
by the amount of these impairment losses.

The calculation of value in use is based on the present value 
of estimated future cash flows expected to arise from the con-
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tinuing use of the strategic business unit. The estimation of 
future cash flows is based on the CeoTronics Group’s planning, 
using a six-year planning horizon (up to fiscal year 2015 / 2016 
inclusive). For periods beyond this planning horizon, no growth 
compared with the final year specifically included in the plan-
ning is assumed.

The discount rate applied is currently 8.6 %.

(6) Estimates and Assumptions
Preparation of the consolidated financial statements in ac-
cordance with IFRSs requires management to make estimates 
and assumptions that affect the recognition and measurement 
of certain items in the consolidated balance sheet and the 
consolidated income statement. We believe that our estima-
tes and assumptions are reasonable under the circumstances. 
However, actual amounts could differ materially from the esti-
mates and assumptions.

Estimates are necessary in particular for:

• �the measurement of the fair values of assets and liabilities in 
the course of acquisitions and business combinations;

• �the assessment of the need for, and the measurement of, 
impairment losses and write-downs;

• �the recognition and measurement of tax, warranty, and liti-
gation risks;

• �determining the need for write-downs of inventories;
• determining the recoverability of deferred tax assets.

(7) Foreign Currency Translation
In accordance with IAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign 
Exchange Rates, the annual financial statements of Group 
companies prepared in foreign currencies are translated into 
euros using the functional currency concept on the basis of the 
modified closing rate method. The functional currency is the 
currency of the primary economic environment in which the 
companies operate. The presentation currency of the consoli-
dated financial statements is the euro; this corresponds to the 
functional currency of the parent, CeoTronics AG.

Balance sheet items are translated at the closing rate, and in-
come statement items are translated at the average rate for 
the fiscal year. The equity accounts of the subsidiaries are 
measured at historical exchange rates. The foreign currency 
differences arising from the application of different exchange 
rates are taken directly to equity and presented in a separa-
te account in equity (cumulative other recognized income and 
expense).

Foreign currency receivables and liabilities in balance sheets 
prepared in euros were measured at the closing rate. Gains 
and losses from the translation of items denominated in for-
eign currencies in the individual financial statements are reco-
gnized in profit or loss.

(8) Significant Accounting Policies 

Fair value of financial instruments
Due to their short-term nature, the carrying amounts of cash 
and cash equivalents, trade receivables, other current assets, 
trade payables, other current liabilities, and provisions corres-
pond approximately to their fair values. 

The carrying amounts of the Company’s other liabilities also 
correspond approximately to their fair values because they eit-
her have short maturities and/or the interest rates reflect the 
market conditions at which the Company could obtain refinan-
cing.

Cash and cash equivalents
The Company accounts for all highly fungible investments with 
a maturity of three months or less as cash and cash equiva-
lents. Cash and cash equivalents comprise bank balances, 
checks and cash-in-hand, and time deposits with a maximum 
original maturity of three months. Cash and cash equivalents 
are recognized at their nominal value.
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Receivables and other current assets
Trade receivables and other current assets are carried at their 
principal amount or at the lower fair value after deduction of im
pairment losses. An impairment loss is recognized for trade recei
vables if there is evidence indicating that the amounts receivable 
are not collectible in full. The amount of the impairment loss is 
calculated as the difference between the carrying amount of 
the receivables and the estimated future cash flows from those 
receivables. The impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss.

Write-downs are recognized to take account of the general 
credit risk. Such write-downs are based on past experience, 
factors derived from the age structure of receivables, and on 
management’s analysis of the reported assets.

The Company’s trade receivables are not collateralized.

Inventories
Inventories include raw materials, consumables, and supplies; 
work in progress and finished goods; and goods purchased 
and held for resale.

The FIFO (first-in, first-out) consumption tracking method is 
applied.

Purchased work in progress is measured at cost. Internally ge-
nerated finished goods and work in progress are measured at 

fully absorbed cost. In accordance with IFRSs, fully absorbed 
cost includes direct material costs, direct labor costs, and pro-
duction overheads. Production overheads include all expenses 
attributable to the production process. They are calculated on 
the basis of standard costing. Standard costs are continually 
adapted to the actual costs and correspond approximately to 
the actual costs. Borrowing costs are not included in the carry-
ing amounts of inventories.

Appropriate valuation allowances are charged for inventory risks 
resulting from excessive storage periods or reduced marketa-
bility. Write-downs are reversed if the reasons for the original 
write-down no longer apply. Write-downs are reversed up to a 
maximum of depreciated cost.

Deferred taxes
In accordance with IAS 12 Income Taxes, deferred tax assets 
and liabilities are recognized for all temporary differences bet-
ween the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the IFRS 
balance sheet and their tax base, and for consolidation adjust-
ments recognized in profit or loss. Deferred tax assets are also 
recognized for tax loss carryforwards. Deferred tax assets are 
only recognized for deductible temporary differences and tax 
loss carryforwards where it is probable that sufficient taxable 
profit will be available in future periods.

USD / EUR GBP / EUR CHF / EUR PLN / EUR

Closing rate at May 31, 2010 1.2277 0.8450 1.4179 4.0738

Closing rate at May 31, 2009 1.4127 0.8743 1.5103 4.5145

Change in € -13.1 % -3.4 % -6.1 % -9.8 %

Average rate for fiscal year 2009 / 2010 1.4065 0.8815 1.4870 4.1273

Average rate for fiscal year 2008 / 2009 1.3840 0.8504 1.5450 3.9128

Change in € +1.6 % +3.7 % -3.8 % +5.5 %
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Deferred taxes are calculated on the basis of the tax rates that 
apply or are expected to apply in the individual countries to the 
period when the asset is realized or the liability is settled.

In accordance with IAS 1.70, deferred taxes are classified as 
noncurrent.

Intangible assets and goodwill
Purchased intangible assets (excluding goodwill) are carried 
at cost and reduced by straight-line amortization over an ex-
pected standard useful life of between three and five years. 
The “Intangible assets” item mainly comprises software.

Impairment losses are recognized if there are indications that 
the carrying amount of the intangible asset is impaired. Im-
pairment losses are reversed if the reasons for impairment 
losses recognized in prior years no longer apply; reversals of 
impairment losses are recognized in Other income.

At CeoTronics AG, development costs do not satisfy the crite-
ria for capitalization under IAS 38 Intangible Assets and are 
recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they are 
incurred.

In accordance with IAS 38 and IFRS 3 Business Combina-
tions, goodwill resulting from initial consolidation and from 
business combinations is regarding as having an indefinite 
useful life. Goodwill is tested for impairment at least once a 
year at year-end, and also whenever there is an indication 
that the carrying amount of goodwill may be impaired. If the 
impairment tests confirm that the impairment is expected to 
be permanent, the impairment loss is recognized in profit or 
loss. IAS 36 Impairment of Assets prohibits the reversal of 
impairment losses on goodwill.

Property, plant, and equipment
In accordance with IAS 16 Property, Plant, and Equipment, 
items of property, plant, and equipment are carried at cost (in-
cluding directly attributable transaction costs) less depreciati-
on. Preventive maintenance expenditures that do not increase 
the value of the assets or prolong their useful lives are treated 
as expenses of the period. Normal repair and corrective main-
tenance expenditures are recognized as expenses in the year 

in which they are incurred. Gains or losses on the disposal of 
items of noncurrent assets are recognized in Other operating 
income or expenses. Borrowing costs are not included in the 
carrying amounts of items of property, plant, and equipment. 

Items of property, plant, and equipment are depreciated on 
a straight-line basis over their standard useful lives. Property, 
plant, and equipment must be assessed for impairment at 
each reporting date, and an impairment test must be perfor-
med if there are indications that an asset is impaired. An asset 
is impaired if its carrying amount is higher than its value in use 
or recoverable amount. Any impairment loss must be recog-
nized in profit or loss.

Impairment losses are reversed if the reasons for impairment 
losses recognized in prior years no longer apply; reversals of 
impairment losses are recognized in Other income.

For reasons of materiality, assets costing between €150 and 
€1,000 are depreciated in a pooled item over five years irres-
pective of their useful lives.

The useful lives applied are shown in the following overview:

Useful life in years

Buildings 50

Leasehold improvements 10, max. remaining 
term of the lease

Technical equipment and ma-
chinery 4 to 8

Other equipment, operating and 
office equipment 4 to 10

Office furniture and equipment 4 to 10

Motor vehicles 4 to 6

Assets costing €150 to €1,000 
(pooled item) 5
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Government grants
CT-Video GmbH receives investment grants for the purchase 
of certain long-lived assets. In accordance with IAS 20 Ac-
counting for Government Grants and Disclosure of Govern-
ment Assistance, the grants are deducted in full directly from 
the carrying amount of the asset in the year in which they are 
received. Grants are recognized in profit or loss through the 
lower amounts of depreciation or amortization over the useful 
life of the assets due to the reduced carrying amounts. Govern-
ment grants are recognized only if there is sufficient assurance 
that the Company will satisfy the conditions attached to the 
grant.

Leases

Operating leases

Leases in which substantially all risks and rewards incidental 
to ownership of an asset remain with the lessor are classified 
as operating leases. Payments received in connection with an 
operating lease are recognized in the income statement on a 
straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

Finance leases

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards in-
cidental to ownership of the asset to the lessee are classified 
as finance leases.

The lessee recognizes the assets at cost and depreciates them 
over their useful life. The financial liabilities are recognized in 
the same amount. The monthly lease payment is apportioned 
between the finance charge recognized in the income state-
ment, which is allocated to each period of the lease term, and 
the reduction of the outstanding liability.

The lessor recognizes the lease payments for the entire lease 
term as revenues in the year of delivery, discounted to the pre-
sent value. The discount factor is 5.0 %. The payments from the 
lessee that are outstanding at the balance sheet date are also 
discounted and reported in trade receivables. The monthly in-
stallments to be paid by the lessee are broken down over the 
term of the lease into a finance charge, which is recognized 

as income in the income statement, and the reduction of the 
outstanding trade receivables.

Hire-purchase

A number of assets were purchased under hire-purchase ar-
rangements, which are accounted for in the same way as fi-
nance leases.

Liabilities
Liabilities are recognized at their repayment amounts.

Provisions
Under IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent 
Assets, provisions are recognized for present obligations to 
third parties arising from past events that are more likely than 
not to result in an outflow of resources embodying economic 
benefits. Provisions are measured at the best estimate of the 
expenditure required to settle the obligation. Where provisions 
will not be settled for at least one year and the amount and 
timing of settlement can be estimated reliably, the noncurrent 
portion of the provision is discounted to arrive at the present 
value. Income from the reversal of provisions is presented in 
Other operating income in the income statement.

Provisions for warranties are recognized on the basis of 
past experience. The historical data is based on the average 
amount of warranty expenditures in recent years.

Revenue recognition
Revenues are generated largely from the sale of products. In 
accordance with IAS 18 Revenue, revenue (net of value ad-
ded tax and sales allowances) is generally recognized at the 
time of delivery to the customer – or, if contractually agreed 
– at the time of technical acceptance of the equipment by the 
customer. Delivery is deemed to be completed when the risks 
associated with title pass to the buyer.  

Cost of sales
Cost of sales comprises the cost of the goods and services sold. 
In addition to directly attributable materials and labor costs, it 
also includes indirect production overheads, including deprecia-
tion of production facilities and write-downs of inventories. Cost 
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of sales also includes additions to warranty provisions. Income 
from the reversal of previous write-downs of inventories reduces 
cost of sales.

Research and development expenses
Significant expenditures are incurred regularly for research 
and development projects established in anticipation of future 
revenues. These expenses are recognized in profit or loss and 
reflect in-process research and development.

Research and development expenses are reported separately 
in the income statement because of their significance for the 
Company.

Borrowing costs
In accordance with IAS 23 Borrowing Costs, borrowing costs 
are recognized as an expense in the period in which they are 
incurred (benchmark method).

Income tax expense
All liabilities and assets from income taxes arising during a tax 
year are recognized in the consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with the relevant tax legislation.

In accordance with IAS 12 Income Taxes, deferred taxes are 
accounted for using the balance sheet liability method on the 
basis of the tax rates expected to apply when the assets are 
realized or the liabilities are settled. Deferred tax assets are 
recognized for the expected tax benefits of tax loss carryfor-
wards for which it is probable that sufficient taxable profit will 
be available in future periods, and for temporary differences 
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the 
IFRS balance sheet and their tax base.

Income tax expense comprises payable and recoverable taxes 
for the reporting period, plus or minus the amount of changes 
in deferred tax assets and liabilities. The effect of changes in 
the tax rate on deferred tax assets or liabilities is recognized in 
profit or loss for the period in which the change becomes law.

Earnings per share
Basic and diluted earnings per share are calculated in ac-
cordance with IAS 33 Earnings per Share. Basic earnings per 

share are calculated on the basis of the weighted average 
number of no-par value shares outstanding in the fiscal year. 
Diluted earnings per share are calculated on the basis of the 
weighted average number of no-par value shares outstanding 
in the period, including potential no-par value shares from the 
exercise of all stock options.

Segment reporting
In accordance with IFRS 8 Operating Segments, information 
on the operating business is presented classified by certain 
segments.

The CeoTronics Group’s segment reporting is based on its 
internal organizational and reporting structure. The segment 
reporting format is geographic.

Consolidated Balance Sheet Disclosures

(9) Cash and Cash Equivalents

€ thousand May 31, 
2010

May 31, 
2009

Cash and bank balances 358 566

This item contains balances on current accounts, overnight or 
time deposits, and cash-in-hand.

(10) Trade Receivables

€ thousand May 31, 
2010

May 31, 
2009

Trade receivables, gross 2,694 4,005

less: valuation allowances -51 -54

Trade receivables, net 2,643 3,951

Trade receivables include receivables from finance leases amoun
ting to €452 thousand. In fiscal year 2006 / 2007, CeoTronics ente-
red into a lease with a customer in Spain that must be classi-
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fied as a finance lease. The order has a total volume of €1,231 
thousand and a term of 72 months. The lessee was granted 
the option of acquiring the products for €110 thousand after 
the lease expires.

The reconciliation of the gross value of the order at the re-
porting date to the present value of the minimum lease pay-
ments outstanding at the reporting date is as follows:

€ thousand

Gross value of the order at the reporting date 462

Discount factor: 5.0 % -10

Present value of the order at the reporting date 452

The maturities of the lease payments break down as follows:

€ thousand Gross value Present 
value

Less than 1 year 205 205

1 to 5 years 257 247

More than 5 years 0 0

Total amounts at the 
reporting date 462 452

The other receivables included in trade receivables are due 
within one year. Valuation allowances of €12 thousand (pre-
vious year: €31 thousand) were recognized as general and 
administrative expenses in fiscal year 2009 / 2010.

(11) Inventories
Inventories are broken down as follows:

€ thousand May 31, 
2010

May 31, 
2009

Raw materials, consumab-
les, and supplies 3 5

Work in progress 3,189 2,575

Finished goods 1,456 2,339

Inventories, net 4,648 4,919

Impairment losses of €410 thousand (previous year: €360 
thousand) to obtain the lower fair value were recognized in 
cost of sales in the fiscal year.

The geographic breakdown of impairment losses was as fol-
lows:

€ thousand Fiscal year 
2009 / 2010

Fiscal year 
2008 / 2009

Germany 300 310

Rest of Europe 13 3

Rest of world 97 47

Total impairment losses 
on inventories 410 360

(12) Other Current Assets

€ thousand May 31, 
2010

May 31, 
2009

Current tax receivables 211 226

Claims on employees 11 12

Prepaid expenses 136 104

Miscellaneous 51 76

Total other current 
assets 409 418

(13) Noncurrent Assets
Changes in noncurrent assets are presented separately in the 
Statement of Changes in Noncurrent Assets.

Investments
CeoTronics AG’s key investments in fiscal year 2009 / 2010 
focused on new tools (€175 thousand), operating and office 
equipment (€42 thousand), software (€18 thousand), licenses 
(€18 thousand), machinery and equipment (€8 thousand), and 
hardware (€8 thousand).

At CT-Video GmbH, €350 thousand was invested in particular 
in expanding the production facility, €85 thousand in operating 
and office equipment, and €43 thousand in software and licen-
ses, and €36 thousand in hardware.
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Goodwill
In accordance with IFRS 3 Business Combinations, goodwill is 
not amortized, but written down for impairment. The carrying 
amount net of impairment losses is tested for impairment once 
a year and written down to the fair value if there are indications 
that goodwill is impaired.  

Goodwill from initial consolidation
Effective May 31, 1996, CeoTronics AG acquired the remaining 
33 % interest in CeoTronics France; the company was formed 
in 1986. This interest was initially consolidated as of May 31, 
1996. The difference resulting from this initial consolidation 
was classified in full as goodwill. Goodwill amounted to €79 
thousand at the date of initial consolidation. The current carry-
ing amount is €47 thousand. In fiscal year 1998 / 1999, CeoTronics 
AG also acquired all shares of A & C Achats et Communication 
S.à.r.l., Pontault-Combault / France. This company was initially 
consolidated as of April 1, 1999. A & C Achats et Communication 
S.à.r.l., Pontault-Combault / France, was merged with CeoTronics 
France. The difference of €323 thousand resulting from initial 
consolidation was classified in full as goodwill. The current car-
rying amount is €275 thousand.

CeoTronics Spain recommenced its sales activities in 1998. 
The company was formed in 1992. It was initially consolidated 
as of December 1, 1998. The difference resulting from this ini-
tial consolidation was classified in full as goodwill. Goodwill 
amounted to €16 thousand at the date of initial consolidation. 
The current carrying amount is €13 thousand.

CeoTronics AG acquired a 75 % interest in CeoTronics Poland 
in fiscal year 2001 / 2002. The company was initially consolida-
ted as of June 1, 2002. The difference resulting from initial 
consolidation was classified in full as goodwill. Goodwill 
amounted to €134 thousand at the date of initial consolidation. 
The current carrying amount is €114 thousand.
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€ thousand Opening balance 
sheet

Impairment 
losses FY 
2009 / 2010

Currency transla-
tion adjustments

Carrying 
amounts at year-

end

Goodwill from initial consolidation
CeoTronics France
CeoTronics Spain
CeoTronics Poland
Total

322
13

134
469

0
0
0
0

0
0

-20
0

322
13

114
449

Goodwill from business combina-
tions
CeoTronics USA
Total

800
800

-643
0

28
0

185
185

Goodwill 1,269 -643 8 634

As of May 31, 2010, goodwill resulting from initial consolidation or business combinations was attributable to the following cash-
generating units:
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Goodwill from business combinations
The goodwill at CeoTronics U.S.A. results from the acquisition 
of the audio business of DTC Inc., Nashua / U.S.A. On the basis 
of the information and expectations with regard to the company’s 
market and competitive environment as of the reporting date, 
the impairment test for the “CeoTronics U.S.A.” cash-genera-
ting unit revealed a need to charge an impairment loss. Mea-
surement as of the reporting date was based on forecasts that 
originated from projections also used for internal purposes. 
New information at the end of the reporting period has led to a 
more cautious assessment of CeoTronics U.S.A.’s future busi-
ness development. The reasons for this are the expected delay 
in the availability of new products, the need to train new sales 
team members, which is a time-consuming task for sales ma-
nagement, and the development of a stronger indirect sales 
channel. Value in use of €185 thousand was calculated, which 
led to a write-down of €643 thousand and an exchange rate effect 
of €28 thousand, resulting in a total impairment loss of €615 
thousand. If the discount rate of 8.6% used for the impairment 
test had been 0.5 percentage points higher, the impairment 
loss would have been €29 thousand higher. However, if the dis-
count rate had been 0.5 percentage points lower, the impair-
ment loss would have been €35 thousand lower. The impairment 
test is based on planning data for 2010 / 2011 to 2015 / 2016. 
Constant earnings were assumed from the seventh year. 

Cumulative goodwill impairment amounted to USD 1,095 
thousand as of May 31, 2010. 

Government grants
Government grants amounting to €1 thousand (previous year: 
€4 thousand) were received by CT-Video GmbH in fiscal year 
2009 / 2010 to acquire long-lived assets. CT-Video GmbH re-
ceived grants amounting to €212 thousand to build a new pro-
duction facility (previous year: €31 thousand), €19 thousand for 
operating and office equipment (previous year: €0 thousand), 
€11 thousand for participating at trade fairs (previous year: €6 
thousand), €4 thousand for the continuous professional deve-
lopment of employees, and €2 thousand for machinery and 
equipment.

CeoTronics AG (Germany) and CT-Video GmbH introduced 
short-time working in a number of areas in December 2009. 
The short-time working benefits paid to staff are recognized as 
an employee expense, and the reimbursement by the Bundes-
agentur für Arbeit (German Federal Employment Agency) is 
eliminated against this expense. The same procedure is used 
for the employer’s social insurance expenses, which are reim-
bursed by the Bundesagentur für Arbeit.

A total of €102 thousand was reimbursed to CeoTronics AG 
and CT-Video GmbH in fiscal year 2009 / 2010. €32 thousand 
of this amount related to social insurance.
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(14) Deferred Tax Assets
Deferred tax assets are composed of the following items:

€ thousand May 31, 
2010

May 31, 
2009

Deferred tax assets on 
tax loss carryforward at 
CeoTronics U.S.A.
Gross
less: valuation allowance
Net

0
0
0

561
-281
280

Deferred tax assets on tax 
loss carryforward at  
CeoTronics AG, Germany

188 0

Deferred tax assets on tax 
loss carryforward at  
CeoTronics Sarl, France

161 142

Deferred tax assets on tax 
loss carryforward at  
CeoTronics Sp. z o.o., 
Poland

13 0

Deferred tax assets due to 
elimination of intercompa-
ny profits

95 150

Total deferred tax assets 457 572

The more cautious assessment of CeoTronics U.S.A.’s future 
business development, which led to the recognition of a write-
down due to goodwill impairment (see note 13), resulted in 
the deferred tax assets reported for CeoTronics U.S.A.’s tax 
loss carryforwards no longer being recognized. CeoTronics 
U.S.A.’s cumulative tax loss carryforwards amounted to USD 
6,269 thousand as of May 31, 2010.

CeoTronics AG, Germany, closed fiscal year 2009 / 2010 with a 
loss. After adjustment for the loss carryback for corporate in-
come tax (including the solidarity surcharge), deferred tax as-
sets were recognized for the remaining loss carryforward be-
cause positive earnings are expected in subsequent years and 
the tax loss carryforwards will therefore be available for utiliza-

tion in the future. The deferred tax asset for the loss carry
forward amounts to €188 thousand (previous year: €0 thousand).

CeoTronics Poland also recorded a loss in fiscal year 
2009 / 2010. Deferred tax assets were recognized for the loss 
carryforward because positive earnings are expected in sub-
sequent years and the tax loss carryforwards will therefore be 
available for utilization in the future. The deferred tax asset for 
the loss carryforward amounts to €13 thousand (previous year: 
€0 thousand).

CeoTronics France closed fiscal year 2009 / 2010 with a loss 
due to a decline in revenues. However, positive earnings are 
expected in subsequent years, which means that the tax loss 
carryforwards will continue to be available for utilization in 
the future. The deferred tax asset for the loss carryforward 
amounts to €161 thousand (previous year: €142 thousand).

Deferred taxes of €55 thousand (previous year: €58 thousand) 
were recognized for consolidation adjustments in the income 
statement in fiscal year 2008 / 2009 due to the elimination of 
intercompany profits. Other temporary differences between 
the IFRS carrying amounts and the tax base of assets and 
liabilities are insignificant. No deferred taxes were therefore 
recognized for temporary differences in the reporting period or 
in the prior year.

German corporations are subject to corporate income tax 
and trade tax. Both are forms of income tax. In Germany, the 
corporate income tax rate for retained and distributed profits 
amounts to a standard 15 % as from calendar year 2008, plus 
5.5 % solidarity surcharge; this is the tax rate applicable under 
IFRSs when calculating deferred taxes. 

Trade tax in Germany is levied on the Company’s taxable pro-
fit, adjusted by eliminating certain income that is not subject to 
trade tax and by adding back certain types of expenses that 
are non-deductible for trade tax purposes. The effective trade 
tax rate depends on which municipality the Company operates 
in. The average trade tax rate during the reporting period was 
approximately 12 %.
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Deferred taxes were recognized for timing differences resulting 
from consolidation adjustments recognized in profit or loss. 
This led to deferred tax assets in the amount of €95 thousand 
(previous year: €150 thousand).

(15) Financial Liabilities

€ thousand May 31, 
2010

May 31, 
2009

Current

Bank overdrafts

Bank loans
Leasing companies
Total

598

131
18

747

117

128
17

260

Noncurrent

Bank loans
Leasing companies
Total

2,704
40

2,744

2,032
55

2,087

Total financial liabilities 3,491 2,347

In fiscal year 2006 / 2007, CeoTronics AG, Rödermark, took out 
a loan amounting to €2,100 thousand to finance the acquisi-
tion of a previously rented property in Rödermark. The loan 
matures on October 31, 2016 and bears interest at 4.81 % per 
annum. The property in question serves as collateral to secure 
the loan. The remaining amount of the loan as of May 31, 2010 
is €1,772 thousand.

In fiscal year 2001 / 2002, CT-Video GmbH, Lutherstadt Eisle-
ben, took out a loan of €390 thousand to finance the acquisiti-
on of a plot of land, the erection of a building, and investments 
in operating equipment. The loan matures on March 31, 2020 
and bears interest at 5.25 % per annum. The land, including 
the buildings erected on it, has been pledged as collateral to 
secure the loan. As contractually agreed, redemption of the 
loan commenced on September 30, 2005. Because of the po-
sitive interest rate developments, the loan was rescheduled 

on March 3, 2006. The interest rate now agreed is 4.5 % until 
January 31, 2016. Provided that principal repayments remain 
constant, the loan will be fully repaid by March 31, 2020. The 
remaining amount of the loan as of May 31, 2010 is €260 
thousand.

The interest expenses for all liabilities to banks and leasing 
companies totaled €168 thousand in fiscal year 2009 / 2010 
(previous year: €144 thousand).

The Group has access to adequate lines of credit from several 
banks.

The following table shows the due dates of financial liabilities:

€ thousand

2010 / 2011
2011 / 2012
2012 / 2013
2013 / 2014
2014 / 2015
Danach

747
209
222
224
480

1,609

Total 3,491

(16) Trade Payables
Trade payables of €286 thousand as of May 31, 2010 are due 
within one year (previous year: €682 thousand).
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Provisions are recognized for the expected costs of warranty 
claims on the basis of past experience and reflect current trends 
expressed as a percentage of revenues. Differences between 
the actual and expected expenditures result in changes in esti-
mates and are recognized in profit or loss for the period in which 
the change has arisen.

(18) Other Current Liabilities

€ thousand May 31, 
2010

May 31, 
2009

Current tax payables
Social security liabilities
Miscellaneous

208
17
19

313
31
74

Other current liabilities 244 418

The other current liabilities are due within one year.

(19) Deferred Tax Liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities (€84 thousand) result from valuation al-
lowances on receivables of €300 thousand from CeoTronics 
U.S.A., which were recognized at CeoTronics AG for tax purpo-
ses but eliminated in the consolidated financial statements due 
to the consolidation of intercompany balances.

(20) Equity
Changes in equity, including currency translation adjustments 
recognized in other comprehensive income, are presented in 
the Statement of Changes in Equity in the consolidated finan-
cial statements.

Subscribed capital
The subscribed capital of CeoTronics AG amounts to 
€6,599,994.00 and is composed of 6,599,994 shares with a 
notional value of €1.00 per share.
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The breakdown of other provisions is presented in the following overview:
(17) Provisions

€ thousand June 1, 2009 Utilization Reversals Additions May 31, 2010

Current provisions

Provisions for employee expenses

Claims for outstanding vacation entitlements and 
overtime 300 300 0 268 268

Employee bonuses 297 287 10 148 148

Management bonuses 274 274 0 0 0

871 861 10 416 416

Other provisions

Legal and consulting fees and year-end closing 
costs 76 66 0 124 134

Warranty provisions 107 0 13 9 103

Miscellaneous 123 120 3 109 109

306 186 16 242 346

Total provisions 1,177 1,047 26 658 762
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Authorized capital
The General Meeting on November 4, 2005 authorized the 
Board of Management, with the approval of the Supervisory 
Board, to increase the share capital in the period up to Novem-
ber 3, 2010 by an aggregate amount of up to €3,299,994.00 by 
issuing no-par value bearer shares against cash or non-cash 
contributions on one or more occasions, and to issue the cor-
responding number of no-par value shares. The Board of Ma-
nagement is authorized, with the approval of the Supervisory 
Board, to disapply shareholders’ preemptive rights to the issue 
in the following cases:

• for fractions to round the amounts of capital increases;
• �in the case of capital increases against cash contributions, 

if the capital increase does not exceed ten percent of the 
share capital (currently 659,999 shares) and the issue price 
is not materially lower than the applicable stock exchange 
price. The applicable stock exchange price is the average 
price of the Company’s shares in floor trading in Frankfurt (or 
a comparable successor system) during the last three trading 
days before the resolution by the Board of Management to 
issue new shares. If the new shares are subscribed by an 
underwriter with a simultaneous commitment by the under-
writer to offer the new shares for sale to one or more third 
parties designated by the Company, the issue price under 
this authorization shall be the amount payable by the third 
party or parties;

• �if the capital is increased against non-cash contributions for 
the purpose of acquiring companies, parts of companies, or 
investments in companies.

The Board of Management was authorized, with the approval 
of the Supervisory Board, to determine the further details of 
the rights attached to the shares and the other details of the 
capital increases and their implementation.

The resolution of November 4, 2005 was entered in the com-
mercial register on January 3, 2006.

Capital reserves
The capital reserves contain the premium from shares issued 
at the time of the Company’s IPO in 1998.
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Retained earnings
Amounts have been appropriated to the legal reserve of  
CeoTronics AG in accordance with section 150(2) of the 
AktG (German Stock Corporation Act); the reserve totaled 
€15,813.87 as of May 31, 2010.

CeoTronics AG’s other retained earnings reported on May 31, 
2009 were released in full to net retained profits (€870,000.00) 
in fiscal year 2009 / 2010.

Equity ratio
The equity of the CeoTronics Group as of May 31, 2010 amoun-
ted to €10,863 thousand (previous year: €13,144 thousand), 
producing an equity ratio of 68.7 % (previous year: 72.5 %).

Dividend distributions 
Profit distributions are based on the net income reported in the 
annual financial statements of CeoTronics AG, including any 
accumulated losses brought forward and any appropriations 
to, or withdrawals from, reserves (net retained profits/net accu-
mulated losses). Due to a number of factors, including adjust-
ment items for IFRS purposes, these amounts differ from the 
amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements. 
The annual financial statements of CeoTronics AG reported net 
retained profits of €642 thousand as of May 31, 2010. €188 
thousand of this is subject to a restriction on distribution.

Proposal on the appropriation of net profit
By way of a resolution dated August 13, 2010, the Board of Ma-
nagement of CeoTronics AG proposed to the Supervisory Board 
with regard to the appropriation of the net profit to recommend 
to the shareholders at the General Meeting that the available 
net retained profits be carried forward to new account. 

(21) Minority Interests
The minority interests in companies of the CeoTronics Group rela-
te to a 25 % minority interest in CeoTronics Sp. z o.o. The minority 
interests of €48 thousand as of May 31, 2010 (previous year: €74 
thousand) are presented directly in equity.
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Consolidated Income Statement Disclosures

(22) Revenues
At €14,361 thousand, revenues in 2009 / 2010 decreased 
by 23.7 % as against the previous year (€18,815 thousand). 
€13,722 thousand was generated by the sale of goods and 
€639 thousand by other services.

Changes in revenues by region are presented in the segment 
reporting in note 32.

(23) Cost of sales
Cost of sales fell to €7,680 thousand in the reporting period 
(previous year: €9,132 thousand). The ratio of cost of sales to 
revenues is now 53.5 % (previous year: 48.5 %).

The revenues disclosed above were partially offset by aggre-
gate cost of materials amounting to €4,800 thousand in fiscal 
year 2009 / 2010 (previous year: €6,047 thousand). The ratio of 
cost of materials to revenues is thus 33.4 % (previous year: 
32.1 %). Cost of materials includes impairment losses of €410 
thousand (previous year: €360 thousand).

(24) Research and Development Expenses
In fiscal year 2009 / 2010, the CeoTronics Group implemented 
projects that will only lead to revenues in future periods. In 
accordance with IFRSs, these expenditures were recognized 
as expenses in the current period.

Although these projects thus reduced the Group’s earnings in 
the reporting period, management believes that these expen-
ditures will be amortized in the medium term because of the 
tremendous market potential for the resulting products.

(25) Employee Expenses

€ thousand Fiscal year 
2009 / 2010

Fiscal year 
2008 / 2009

Wages and salaries
Social security, post-employ-
ment, and other employee 
benefit expenses

6,078

1,141

6,630

1,147

Total employee expenses 7,219 7,777

of which in respect of old age 
pensions 33 32

An average aggregate of 155 (previous year: 154) employees 
were employed in the CeoTronics Group in the year under re-
view.

(26) Depreciation, Amortization, and Impairment Losses
Amortization of €124 thousand (previous year: €102 thousand) 
was charged on intangible assets. €23 thousand of this is recog-
nized in cost of sales, €23 thousand in selling and marketing ex-
penses, €11 thousand in general and administrative expenses, 
and €67 thousand in research and development expenses.

Depreciation of €466 thousand (previous year: €425 thousand) 
was charged on items of property, plant, and equipment.

The impairment loss charged on CeoTronics U.S.A.’s goodwill 
amounted to €643 thousand (excluding the currency translation 
effect; see note 13).

(27) Other Operating Income and Expenses
This item is broken down as follows:

€ thousand Fiscal year 
2009 / 2010

Fiscal year 
2008 / 2009

Other operating income
Other operating expenses

460
-79

322
-101

Other operating income 
and expenses 381 221
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Other operating income relates primarily to income from the 
reversal of provisions (€26 thousand) and exchange rate gains 
of €310 thousand.

Other operating expenses relate in particular to valuation al-
lowances on receivables (€12 thousand) and to other taxes 
(€23 thousand).

(28) Interest Income and Expense
Net interest expense is composed of the following items:

€ thousand Fiscal year 
2009 / 2010

Fiscal year 
2008 / 2009

Interest and similar income
Interest and similar ex-
penses

1

-168

44

-144

Net interest expense -167 -100

Interest income relates primarily to overnight and term deposits.

Interest expenses are composed mainly of mortgage interest 
and the short-term utilization of credit lines.

(29) Income Tax Expense
Tax expenses relate to corporate income tax, the solidarity 
surcharge, and municipal trade tax (computed on the basis of 
the trade tax multiplier at the domicile of the Company) at the 
German companies, and to comparable income taxes at the 
foreign companies.

In Germany, the corporate income tax rate was 15.0 %, as in 
the previous year, the solidarity surcharge was 5.5 % on the 
corporate income tax liability, and the municipal trade tax rate 
was equivalent to 12.3 %. The corresponding income tax rates 
outside Germany in the fiscal year were between 15 % and 
37 %.

The tax expense is composed of the following items:

€ thousand Fiscal year 
2009 / 2010

Fiscal year 
2008 / 2009

Current taxes
   Germany
   Abroad
Total

-4
-12
-16

374
222
596

Deferred taxes 115 31

Income tax expense 99 627

The reconciliation of the expected tax expense at the appli-
cable tax rate in Germany (based on pre-tax profit) to the effec-
tive tax expense is presented in the following table. To arrive at 
the expected tax expense, the profit before tax is multiplied by 
a tax rate of 28.2 % (previous year: 28.2 %). This is composed 
of a corporate income tax rate of 15.0 %, a municipal trade tax 
rate of 12.3 %, and a solidarity surcharge of 5.5 %.

€ thousand Fiscal year 
2009 / 2010

Fiscal year 
2008 / 2009

Profit before tax
Tax income at the appli-
cable tax rate (28.2 %; 
previous year: 28.1 %)
Difference due to foreign 
tax rates
Benefit of tax loss carry-
forwards
Non-deductible expenses
Effect on deferred taxes
Effect of consolidation 
adjustments
Other differences

-1,297

-366

-26

0
21

458

2
10

1,906

537

-33

-5
25

136

-31
-2

Tax expense reported in 
consolidated financial 
statements

99 627
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The effect on deferred taxes relates to the derecognition of 
the deferred tax assets recognized in fiscal year 2008 / 2009 
on CeoTronics U.S.A.’s loss carryforwards amounting to €280 
thousand, and the non-recognition of deferred tax assets 
on CeoTronics U.S.A.’s loss in fiscal year 2009 / 2010 (€178 
thousand).

(30) Earnings per Share

Fiscal year 
2009 / 2010

Fiscal year 
2008 / 2009

Consolidated profit/loss at-
tributable to shareholders 
of the parent (€ thousand)

-1,383 1,266

Weighted average number 
of shares 6,599,994 6,599,994

Earnings per share (€) -0.21 0.19

In accordance with IAS 33 Earnings per Share, basic earnings 
per share are computed by dividing ‘Consolidated profit / loss 
attributable to shareholders of the parent’ by the weighted ave-
rage number of shares outstanding in the year.

As in the prior year, all shares of the Company were outstan-
ding in fiscal year 2009 / 2010.

Other Disclosures

(31) Cash Flow Disclosures
For the purposes of the cash flow statement, CeoTronics AG de-
fines cash investments with a maximum original maturity of three 
months as cash equivalents. There is no restricted cash or 
cash equivalents.

The format of the cash flow statement complies with IAS 7 
Cash Flow Statements, and classifies cash flow into cash flow 
from operating, investing, and financing activities.

Cash flow from investing and financing activities is derived 
from cash payments and receipts, while cash flow from ope-
rating activities is derived indirectly from consolidated profit /
loss.

(32) Segment Reporting
Segment reporting was prepared in accordance with IFRS 8 
Operating Segments. The Company assesses the perfor-
mance of the operating segments on the basis of their EBIT. 
The accounting policies applicable to geographic segment re-
porting are identical to those described in note 8.

The CeoTronics Group’s segment reporting is based on its in-
ternal organizational and reporting structure and the segment 
reporting format is geographic (management approach). The 
segment structure is based on the country of origin, i. e., the 
domicile of the operating company in question): 

• �Germany comprises CeoTronics AG (Germany) and CT-Video 
GmbH.

• �Rest of Europe consists of CeoTronics Spain, CeoTronics 
France, CeoTronics Switzerland, and CeoTronics Poland.

• Rest of world comprises CeoTronics U.S.A.

The intersegment transfer prices are calculated using the resale 
price method, which is based on the resale price at which the 
foreign subsidiaries sell the products acquired from CeoTronics 
AG (Germany) on the market.
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Germany Rest of Europe Rest of world Consolidation Group

€ thousand  2009 /
2010

 2008 /
2009

 2009 /
2010

 2008 /
2009

 2009 /
2010

 2008 /
2009

 2009 /
2010

 2008 /
2009

 2009 /
2010

 2008 /
2009

Revenues

External customers 11,021 12,492 2,818 6,096 522 227 0 0 14,361 18,815

Between segments 2,318 4,870 2 40 14 31 -2,334 -4,941 0 0

Segment 
revenues 13,339 17,362 2,820 6,136 536 258 -2,334 -4,941 14,361 18,815

of which major 
customers 2,833 3,425 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,833 3,425

Cost of sales 7,750 9,557 1,933 4,174 390 193 -2,393 -4,792 7,680 9,132

Selling and marke-
ting expenses 3,314 3,621 708 783 268 275 0 0 4,290 4,679

Administrative 
expenses 1,220 1,274 224 233 72 72 0 0 1,516 1,579

R & D expenses 1,743 1,709 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,743 1,709

EBIT / segment 
profit or loss -1,965 836 -62 912 -623 -160 1,520 418 -1,130 2,006

Net interest ex-
pense -167 -100

Tax expense 99 627

Profit / loss -1,383 1,280

Segment assets 18,051 20,284 2,085 3,914 981 1,629 -5,300 -7,686 15,817 18,141

Segment liabilities 4,663 4,193 1,591 2,751 2,802 2,583 -4,102 -4,530 4,954 4,997

Investments 787 933 41 25 4 36 0 0 832 994

Depreciation, 
amortization, and 
impairment losses

542 484 32 32 658* 11 0 0 1,232 527

* �Rest of world includes impairment of CeoTronics U.S.A.’s goodwill amounting to €643 thousand (excluding exchange rate effects, see 
note 13)

Segment reporting table
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€ thousand Fiscal year 
2009 / 2010

Fiscal year 
2008 / 2009

Revenues by product

Audio 10,176 15,907

Video 3,547 2,390

Services 638 518

Total revenues 14,361 18,815

Revenues by customer 
country

Germany 7,810 8,756

Rest of Europe 5,797 9,559

Rest of world 754 500

Total revenues 14,361 18,815

(33) Additional Information on Financial Instruments
The following overview presents the carrying amounts and fair 
values of loans and receivables and of financial liabilities mea-
sured at their net carrying amounts.

The fair value of cash and cash equivalents, current receivab-
les, trade payables, other current financial liabilities, and other 
financial liabilities corresponds to the carrying amount. The re-
ason for this is the short maturity of these instruments.

CeoTronics measures noncurrent receivables by discoun-
ting the expected future cash flows. As a result, the carrying 
amounts of these receivables as of May 31, 2010 and 2009 
are close to their fair values.

Noncurrent liabilities to banks bear corresponding rates of inte-
rest; their net carrying amounts correspond to their fair values. 
There are no other noncurrent liabilities.

The following table provides additional information on revenues at company level.



Annual Report  09 / 10

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements  I  71

€ thousand IAS 39 
category1 May 31, 2010 May 31, 2009

Carrying 
amount Fair value Carrying 

amount Fair value

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents AfS 358 358 566 566

Trade receivables 2,643 2,643 3,951 3,951

	 – of which from leases n.a. 452 452 553 553

	 – �of which other trade receivables LaR 2,191 2,191 3,398 3,398

Other financial assets 409 409 418 418

	 – of which tax receivables n.a. 211 211 226 226

	 – of which miscellaneous other financial 
                  assets LaR 198 198 192 192

Financial liabilities

Liabilities to banks AmC 3,491 3,491 2,347 2,347

Trade payables AmC 286 286 682 682

Other financial liabilities 295 295 670 670

	 – of which tax liabilities n.a. 259 259 479 479

	 – of which miscellaneous other financial 
                  liabilities AmC 36 36 191 191

1 AfS –  available for sale; LaR – loans and receivables; AmC – amortized cost; n.a. – own measurement category

Financial instruments table
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€ thousand Less than 1 year 1 to 5 years More than 5 years

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 358 0 0

Trade receivables 2,396 0 0

	 – of which from leases 205 256 0

	 – of which other trade receivables 2,191 0 0

Other financial assets 409 0 0

	 – of which tax receivables 211 0 0

	 – �of which miscellaneous other
                  financial assets 198 0 0

Total 3,163 256 0

Financial liabilities

Liabilities to banks 843 1,303 1,821

Trade payables 286 176 0

Other financial liabilities 295 0 0

	 – of which tax receivables 259 0 0

	 – �of which miscellaneous other
                  financial liabilities 36 0 0

Total 1,424 1,479 1,821

The maturities of financial assets and liabilities are as follows:

(34) Risk Management
a.) Price and currency risk
The CeoTronics Group is exposed to price and currency fluc-
tuations because of its international business operations. 87 % 
of all revenues are generated in euros, and the remaining 13 % 
are generated in foreign currency (U.S. dollars, Polish zloty, 
and Swiss francs). Because the consolidated financial state-
ments are prepared in euros, fluctuations between the euro 
and the corresponding foreign currencies have a not insigni-
ficant effect on the level of revenues and of individual income 
and expense items. Currency risks are mitigated by operating 

business locations in the corresponding countries; in additi-
on to generating revenues in foreign currency, they also incur 
expenses in the same currency. No specific currency hedging 
transactions have been entered into in the past.

b.) Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk, i.e., the risk of exposure to possible fluctua-
tions in the value of financial instruments because of changes 
in market rates of interest, may arise in relation to medium-and 
long-term interest-bearing receivables and liabilities in particu-
lar. There are no medium- and long-term variable rate receiva-
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bles in the Group. In addition to the existing loan for a property 
in Lutherstadt-Eisleben, a loan of €2,100 thousand was raised 
in fiscal year 2006 / 2007 to finance the acquisition of a pro-
perty in Rödermark. The fixed-interest period for the existing 
loans does not expire until 2016. Assuming that the loans are 
repaid as provided for in the contracts, the remaining value 
of the loans after expiration of the fixed-interest period will be 
€1,141 thousand. No interest rate hedges have been entered 
into so far due to the long term of the fixed-interest period and 
the long remaining maturity of the loans. There are no variable 
rate financial liabilities.

c.) Liquidity risk
In many cases, CeoTronics AG makes advance payments 
for substantial materials purchases, especially for large con-
tracts, although the contracts themselves are not invoiced and 
settled until months later. To mitigate the resulting liquidity risk,  
CeoTronics AG has reached agreement with banks on several 
lines of credit. This safeguards adequate liquidity in the Group 
at all times.

d.) Default risk
The carrying amount of financial assets is the maximum va-
lue at risk if business partners do not meet their contractual 
payment obligations. To keep the default risk to a minimum, 
CeoTronics AG has established a comprehensive receivables 
management system that ensures that credit rating informa-
tion is obtained or historical data – and in particular payment 
patterns – from the existing business relationship is used to 
avoid payment default. If default risks are identified for indivi-
dual financial assets, these risks are taken into account in the 
form of valuation allowances. In fiscal year 2008 / 2009, bad 
debts amounted to €12 thousand or 0.09 % of revenues (previ-
ous year: €31 thousand or 0.16 % of revenues).

The following table shows an analysis of receivables past due 
as a proportion of the total receivables of €2,191 thousand:

€ thousand Receivables past due

0 - 30 
days

31 - 180 
days

181 days or 
more

May 31, 
2010 122 186 0

e.) Other risks
As a rule, the CeoTronics Group is not significantly dependent 
on individual customers (10 % of Group revenues). An aggre-
gate of 11.0 % of total Group revenues was generated with a 
single customer in the past fiscal year. The revenue break-
down is expected to return to normal in the coming years.

The share of the aggregate procurement volume of the  
CeoTronics Group attributable to individual suppliers was well 
below 10 % in the past fiscal year. 

Because of the strongly competitive environment, the  
CeoTronics Group is faced with the need to continuously up-
grade existing products and to drive forward the development of 
new products. The goal is to reinforce or extend the Company’s 
existing technical lead over its competitors. CeoTronics’ high 
degree of innovation and advanced technology reduces price 
pressure and thus limits price risk. In the past, the high level of 
research and development expenditures incurred to achieve 
this have been amortized in the short to medium term.

(35) Litigation and other proceedings
Neither CeoTronics AG nor any of its subsidiaries are currently 
involved in pending court or arbitration proceedings that could 
materially affect the net assets, financial position, and results 
of operations of the Group.

The German Financial Reporting Enforcement Panel (FREP) has 
raised doubts about the correctness of information contained in 
the consolidated financial statements for fiscal year 2008 / 2009 
and in the annual financial statements of CeoTronics AG for fiscal 
year 2008 / 2009 following a non-indication-based examination 
in accordance with section 342b(2) sentence 3 number 3 of the 
HGB. With regard to the consolidated financial statements for fiscal 
year 2008 / 2009, the matter relates specifically to the goodwill 
attributable to CeoTronics U.S.A., the recognition of deferred 
tax assets for tax loss carryforwards of CeoTronics U.S.A., and 
the structure of the segment reporting. The forecasts made in 
the (Group) management report for fiscal year 2008 / 2009 were 
also criticized. In respect of the annual financial statements of 
CeoTronics AG for fiscal year 2008 / 2009, the FREP refers to 
the carrying amount of the investment in CeoTronics U.S.A. and 
the carrying amount of intragroup receivables from that company.
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The Company does not agree with the FREP’s assessment, 
which is merely provisional at present. If the FREP’s assess-
ment is confirmed, this could require restatements to be made 
in the above-mentioned financial statements for fiscal year 
2008 / 2009. CeoTronics U.S.A.’s balance sheet assets were 
written down significantly in the accompanying financial state-
ments (see note 13) due to new information on future business 
development. Even if the FREP’s provisional assessment is 
confirmed, this may only lead to a relatively minor adjustment.

(36) Disclosure of Auditors’ Fees
The following fees were agreed or recognized as expenses for the 
statutory auditors in fiscal years 2009 / 2010 and 2008 / 2009:

€ thousand Fiscal year 
2009 / 2010

Fiscal year 
2008 / 2009

Fees for audits of financial 
statements 58 58

Fees for other assurance 
and advisory services 3 0

Fees for tax advisory 
services 8 4

Fees for other services 
provided to the Company 
or to its subsidiaries

0 2

Total 69 64

(37) Other Financial Commitments 
There are other financial commitments resulting from rental 
and leasing agreements, as well as commitments entered into 
under master agreements and outstanding purchase orders 
relating to the purchase of goods.
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Future obligations under operating leases and rental agree-
ments at May 31, 2010 amounted to:

€ thousand

For fiscal year 2010 / 2011 245

For fiscal year 2011 / 2012 87

For fiscal year 2012 / 2013 39

For fiscal year 2013 / 2014 24

For fiscal year 2014 / 2015 26

Thereafter 0

Total future rental and lease obligations 421

Future commitments resulting from master agreements and 
outstanding purchase orders relating to the purchase of goods 
amounted to €1,425 thousand at May 31, 2010. The entire 
amount relates to fiscal year 2009 / 2010.

The following amounts relating to rental and leasing agree-
ments were incurred in the reporting period and the prior 
year:

€ thousand Fiscal year 
2009 / 2010

Fiscal year 
2008 / 2009

Building rent 70 91

Motor vehicle leases 153 167

Total rental and lease 
expenses 223 258

(38) Stock Option Plans
CeoTronics AG’s final stock option plans were exercised in fis-
cal year 2007 / 2008. There are currently no plans to launch 
new stock option plans. 
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(39) Employees
An average of 155 employees were employed in the CeoTronics 
Group in fiscal year 2009 / 2010 (previous year: 154). The 
breakdown by function was as follows:

Fiscal year 
2009 / 2010

Fiscal year 
2008 / 2009

Operations 80 78

Sales and marketing 40 42

Research and develop-
ment 17 14

Administration 18 20

Total employees 155 154

The number of employees in the Group is broken down by 
region as follows:

Fiscal year 
2009 / 2010

Fiscal year 
2008 / 2009

Germany 141 138

U.S.A. 3 4

Spain 4 4

France 2 3

Poland 3 3

Switzerland 2 2

Total employees 155 154

Employee expenses amounted to €7,219 thousand in fiscal 
year 2009 / 2010, compared with €7,777 thousand in the prior 
year.

(40) Executive Bodies and Remuneration

Board of Management
The members of the Board of Management in fiscal year 
2009 / 2010 were:

Chairman
Thomas H. Günther,        
Businessman, Rödermark

Deputy Chairman
Berthold Hemer,                
Diplom-Ingenieur, Schaafheim

Member
Günther Thoma,                
Technischer Betriebswirt, Schöllkrippen

In accordance with Article 9 of the Articles of Association, the 
Company is represented by two members of the Board of Ma-
nagement or by one member of the Board of Management and 
a Prokurist (authorized signatory). The Supervisory Board is 
authorized to grant sole right of representation to one member 
or individual members of the Board of Management and/or to 
exempt this member / these members from the restrictions of 
section 181 of the BGB (German Civil Code).

The General Meeting on November 4, 2005 resolved that the 
salaries and other remuneration components will not be disclosed 
individually for each member of the Board of Management in 
the notes to the annual financial statements of CeoTronics AG. 
This also applies to termination benefit commitments to the 
members of the Board of Management. The resolution is effec-
tive for the fiscal year beginning June 1, 2005 and for the four 
subsequent fiscal years until May 31, 2010.

A corresponding resolution with the same substance was ad-
opted at the General Meeting on November 6, 2009, and is 
effective for the fiscal year beginning June 1, 2010 and the four 
subsequent fiscal years until May 31, 2015.
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The aggregate benefits of the Board of Management in fiscal 
year 2009 / 2010 amounted to €788 thousand (previous year: 
€787 thousand). The aggregate benefits comprise fixed salary 
components of €619 thousand (previous year: €585 thousand) 
and variable remuneration components of €169 thousand paid 
for the prior year (previous year: €202 thousand). 

Supervisory Board
In accordance with Article 10 of the Articles of Association, the 
Supervisory Board has at least three members who are elec-
ted by the General Meeting. The members of the Supervisory 
Board in the period under review were:

Chairman
Hans-Dieter Günther, 		
Businessman, Rödermark

Deputy Chairman
Horst Schöppner, 		
Diplom-Kaufmann, Rödermark

Member
Stephan Haack, 		
Lawyer and Notary, Kronberg

Hans-Dieter Günther has been Chairman of the Supervisory 
Board of Rhein-Main-Factoring AG, Rodgau, since January 12, 
2004. There are no further memberships of supervisory bodies 
as defined by section 125(1) sentence 3 of the AktG.

Stephan Haack has been Chairman of the Supervisory Board 
of Integrata AG, Stuttgart, since March 23, 2009. There are 
no further memberships of supervisory bodies as defined by 
section 125(1) sentence 3 of the AktG.

The total remuneration of the Supervisory Board in fiscal 
year 2009 / 2010 amounted to €91 thousand (previous year: 
€103 thousand), of which €44 thousand (previous year: €44 
thousand) related to fixed remuneration and €47 thousand 
(previous year: €59 thousand) related to variable components. 
The members of the Supervisory Board receive the above 
amounts plus value added tax at the statutory rate.
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(41) Related Party Disclosures

Shareholdings of the members of the executive bodies

During and at the end of fiscal year 2009 / 2010, no members of CeoTronics AG’s executive bodies held options on shares of 
CeoTronics AG.

Function Name CeoTronics shares
(ISIN DE 0005407407/WKN 540740) (quantity)

May 31, 2010 May 31, 2009

Board of Management
Chairman of the Board of Management
Deputy Chairman of the Board of Ma-
nagement
Chief Operating Officer

Thomas H. Günther
Berthold Hemer

Günther Thoma

28,494
513,150

18,066

28,494
513,150

18,066

Supervisory Board
Chairman

Deputy Chairman

Member

Hans-Dieter Günther

Horst Schöppner

Stephan Haack

1,113,600

Held personally                10
Other attributable shares 
held by Schöppner 
Vermögensverwaltung  
GbR:                       810,400
Total:                     810,410

0

1,113,600

655,410

0
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Other service relationships

A son of CeoTronics AG’s Chairman of the Supervisory Board 
runs an advertising agency as a sole proprietor. The Company 
used its services in fiscal year 2009 / 2010 for placing adver-
tisements with a total value of €10 thousand, and purchased 
other services.

A member of the Supervisory Board is a member of a law and 
notary firm to which the Company paid fees in the fiscal year 
in the amount of €11 thousand in accordance with the approp-
riate schedules of fees.

The daughter of a member of the Supervisory Board is the 
owner of a translation agency from which the Company 
purchased services in the amount of €8 thousand in fiscal year 
2009 / 2010.

The brother of a member of the Board of Management opera-
tes a printing service from which the Company purchased ser-
vices in the amount of €4 thousand in fiscal year 2009 / 2010.

No amounts were outstanding at the reporting date under the 
above service relationships.

CeoTronics AG granted no loans to members of the Board of 
Management or the Supervisory Board.

Notifications in accordance with section 21(1)of the Wert-
papierhandelsgesetz (WpHG – German Securities Trading 
Act)

On April 25, 2008, Highclere International Investors, London, 
UK, notified CeoTronics AG in accordance with section 21(1) 
of the WpHG that its holdings of shares of CeoTronics AG had 
exceeded the notification threshold of 5 %.

On August 23, 2006, Horst Schöppner, Rödermark, notified 
CeoTronics AG in accordance with section 21(1) of the WpHG 
that his holdings of shares of CeoTronics AG had fallen below 
the notification threshold of 10 %.

On December 17, 2009, Schöppner Vermögensverwaltung 
GbR, Rödermark, notified CeoTronics AG in accordance 
with section 21(1) of the WpHG that its holdings of shares of  
CeoTronics AG had exceeded the notification thresholds of 
3 %, 5 %, and 10 %.

On December 17, 2009, Horst Schöppner, Rödermark, notified 
CeoTronics AG in accordance with section 21(1) of the WpHG 
that his share of the voting rights of CeoTronics AG had ex-
ceeded the notification threshold of 10 % and now amounts 
to 810,410 voting rights. 810,400 of these voting rights are at-
tributable to him in accordance with section 22(1) no. 1 and 
(3) of the WpHG via Schöppner Vermögensverwaltung GbR, 
Rödermark, which is controlled by him.
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(42) Events after the Balance Sheet Date

In accordance with IAS 10 Events after the Balance Sheet 
Date, events after the balance sheet date are favorable and 
unfavorable events that occur between the balance sheet date 
and the date when the financial statements are authorized for 
issue.

CeoTronics AG filed an application with Deutsche Börse to 
withdraw from listing on the Regulated Market (General Stan-
dard / Prime Standard) on July 22, 2010. Once the withdrawal 
becomes effective – subject to the approval of the Frankfurt 
Stock Exchange – the aim is for CeoTronics AG’s shares to 
continue trading in the Entry Standard of the Frankfurt Stock 
Exchange.

There were no other significant events after the balance sheet 
date.

(43) Declaration of Conformity with the German Corporate 
Governance Code

The Board of Management and the Supervisory Board have 
published the Declaration of Conformity on compliance with 
the provisions of the German Corporate Governance Code in 
accordance with section 161 of the AktG on the Internet (www.
ceotronics.com), and have thus made it permanently acces-
sible to shareholders.

(44) Authorization of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
for Publication

The accompanying consolidated financial statements were 
authorized for publication by the Board of Management on Au-
gust 13, 2010.

Rödermark, August 13, 2010
CeoTronics AG
Audio · Video · Data Communication
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Berthold Hemer
Deputy Chairman of the Board of Management 
and Chief Technology Officer

Thomas H. Günther
Chairman of the Board of Management 
and Chief Executive Officer

Günther Thoma
Chief Operating Officer
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Responsibility Statement

“To the best of our knowledge, and in accordance with the ap-
plicable reporting principles, the consolidated financial state-
ments give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial 
position, and profit or loss of the Group, and the Group ma-
nagement report includes a fair review of the development and 
performance of the business and the position of the Group, to-
gether with a description of the material opportunities and risks 
associated with the expected development of the Group.”

Rödermark, August 13, 2010
CeoTronics AG
Audio • Video • Data Communication

Thomas H. Günther
Chairman of the Board of Management 
and Chief Executive Officer

Günther Thoma
Chief Operating Officer

Berthold Hemer
Deputy Chairman of the Board of Management 
and Chief Technology Officer



Annual Report  09 / 10

Auditorʼs Report  I  81

Auditors’ Report

We have audited the consolidated financial statements – com-
prising the balance sheet, income statement, statement of 
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity, cash 
flow statement, and the notes – and the group management 
report prepared by CeoTronics Aktiengesellschaft Audio •  
Video • Data Communication, Rödermark, for the fiscal year 
from June 1, 2008 to May 31, 2009. The preparation of the 
consolidated financial statements and the group management 
report in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU and the 
supplementary provisions of German commercial law required 
to be applied under section 315a(1) of the Handelsgesetzbuch 
(HGB – German Commercial Code) is the responsibility of the 
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an 
opinion on the consolidated financial statements and the group 
management report based on our audit.

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements 
in accordance with section 317 of the HGB and the German ge-
nerally accepted standards for the audit of financial statements 
promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer (IDW), as well 
as in accordance with the International Standards on Auditing 
(ISAs). Those standards require that we plan and perform the 
audit such that misstatements materially affecting the presen-
tation of the net assets, financial position, and results of ope-
rations in the consolidated financial statements in accordance 
with the applicable financial reporting standards and in the group 
management report are detected with reasonable assurance. 
Knowledge of the business activities and the economic and le-
gal environment of the Group and expectations as to possible 
misstatements are taken into account in the determination of 
audit procedures. The effectiveness of  the accounting-related 
internal control system and the evidence supporting the disclo-
sures in the consolidated financial statements and the group 
management report are examined primarily on a test basis 
within the framework of the audit. The audit includes assessing 
the annual financial statements of the companies included in 
the consolidated financial statements, the determination of the 
companies to be included in the consolidated financial state-
ments, the accounting and consolidation principles used, and si-
gnificant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating 
the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements 
and the group management report. We believe that our audit 
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Our audit has not led to any reservations.

In our opinion, based on the findings of our audit, the consolida-
ted financial statements comply with IFRSs as adopted by the 
EU and the supplementary provisions of German commercial 
law required to be applied under section 315a(1) of the HGB 
and give a true and fair view of the net assets, financial position, 
and results of operations of the Group in accordance with the-
se requirements. The group management report is consistent 
with the consolidated financial statements, as a whole provides 
a suitable understanding of the Group’s position, and suitably 
presents the opportunities and risks of future development.

Eschborn, August 13, 2010

UWP Unitreu GmbH
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

Harald Hoffmann
Wirtschaftsprüfer

Stefan Sauerbier
Wirtschaftsprüfer
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Condensed HGB Balance Sheet of CeoTronics AG Germany – Assets

Condensed HGB Balance Sheet of CeoTronics AG Germany – Equity and Liabilities

€ thousand May 31, 2010 May 31, 2009

Intangible assets 243 308

Tangible assets 5,047 5,174

Financial assets 3,827 4,603

Fixed assets 9,117 10,085

Inventories 3,020 3,401

Trade receivables 1,367 594

Receivables from affiliated companies 1,640 3,492

Other assets 168 315

Cash funds 14 9

Current assets and prepaid expenses 6,209 7,811

Deferred tax assets 188 0

Total assets 15,514 17,896

€ thousand May 31, 2010 May 31, 2009

Subscribed capital 6,600 6,600

Capital reserves 4,181 4,181

Revenue reserves 16 886

Net retained profits/net accumulated losses 642 2,679

Equity 11,439 14,346

Provisions for taxes 18 77

Other provisions 467 860

Provisions 485 937

Liabilities to banks 3,170 2,002

Advances received 1 0

Trade payables 188 310

Liabilities to affiliated companies 39 113

Other liabilities 192 188

Liabilities 3,590 2,613

Total equity and liabilities 15,514 17,896
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Condensed HGB Income Statement of CeoTronics AG Germany

€ thousand 2009 / 2010 2008 / 2009

Sales 9,623 14,307

Cost of sales -5,452 -7,680

Gross profit 4,171 6,627

Research and development expenses -1,345 -1,469

Selling and marketing expenses -2,808 -3,084

General and administrative expenses -1,142 -1,215

Other operating expenses -1,427 -620

Other taxes 0 -6

Other operating income 276 293

Operating result (EBIT) -2,275 526

Net financial and investment income -243 608

Result before income taxes -2,518 1,134

Taxes on income 271 -289

Net income (+), net loss (-) for the year -2,247 845
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Executive Bodies of the Company

Supervisory Board:

Chairman
Hans-Dieter Günther
Businessman, Rödermark

Deputy Chairman
Horst Schöppner
Diplom-Kaufmann, Rödermark

Member
Stephan Haack
Lawyer and notary, Kronberg

Board of Management:

Chairman
Thomas H. Günther
Businessman, Rödermark

Deputy Chairman
Berthold Hemer
Diplom-Ingenieur, Schaafheim

Member
Günther Thoma
Technischer Betriebswirt, Schöllkrippen

Financial Calendar

Annual earnings press conference 
in Rödermark	 August 26, 2010

Analyst meeting in Rödermark	 August 26, 2010

Publication of preliminary revenue and 
order backlog figures for the first 3 
months of fiscal year 2010 / 2011	 Calendar week 35, 2009

Report on 1st quarter as of 
August 31, 2010	 October 8, 2010

General Meeting 2010 	 November 5, 2010

Publication of preliminary revenue and 
order backlog figures for the first 6 months 
of fiscal year 2010 / 2011	 Calendar week 48, 2010

Report on 2nd quarter as of 
November 30, 2010	 January 14, 2011

Publication of preliminary revenue and 
order backlog figures for the first 9 months 
of fiscal year 2010 / 2011	 Calendar week 9, 2011

Report on 3rd quarter as of 
February 28, 2011	 April 8, 2011

End of fiscal year 2010 / 2011	 May 31, 2011

Publication of preliminary revenue and 
order backlog figures for the full fiscal 
year 2010 / 2011	 Calendar week 23, 2011

Annual Report 2010 / 2011	 End of August 2011

General Meeting 2011 	 November 4, 2011

All information subject to correction and change without notice.
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Forward-looking statements
This Annual Report contains forward-looking statements that 
reflect the current views of CeoTronics AG’s Board of Manage-
ment.

These statements were made to the best of the Company’s 
knowledge and are based on the Company’s current plans, 
estimates, projections, and expectations. They are therefore 
subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual re-
sults to differ from expected results.

The forward-looking statements are only valid at the time of 
publication of this Annual Report and cannot be guaranteed.

CeoTronics AG assumes no obligation to the public to update 
or correct forward-looking statements. This does not affect the 
Company‘s statutory obligation to fulfill its information and re-
porting duties.

Trademarks
All brand names, trademarks, or product names mentioned in 
this Annual Report are the property of their respective owners. 
This applies in particular to DAX, GEX, Prime Standard, Tech-
nology All Share, and Xetra, which are registered trademarks 
and the property of Deutsche Börse AG; TETRA, which is a 
brand of TETRA MoU Association Ltd.; and TETRAPOL, which 
is a brand of EADS TELECOM Corporation France.
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Sustainable Value Management
Pressure to deliver short-term success stories and the con-
straints imposed by quarterly financial reporting are factors 
that run counter to stable, continuous corporate development. 
That‘s why the CeoTronics Group‘s management strategies 
are aligned with long-term value growth. CeoTronics concen-
trates on its core competencies, occupies attractive niche 
markets, and makes a careful analysis before investing in 
technologies, products, markets, and capacity. The recipe for 
sustainable value management includes such ingredients as 
risk management; regular analysis of ratios and other finan-
cial indicators; tools that create transparency in projects and 
processes; short decision paths; and goal agreements (not 
only for revenues and contribution margins, but also relating 
to organizational and process enhancements, and to reduc-
tions in production costs). Some of the other ingredients are 
revenue and contribution margin analyses (by sales territories 
and product and customer groups); sales commissions and 
contribution margin-based bonuses as variable remuneration 
components; dynamic growth of the product portfolio; innova-
tion management for products and process organization; and 
cooperation management (in the areas of R & D, production, 
and sales / marketing).

Unhealthy revenue growth from over-ambitious acquisitions 
(possibly with an excessive level of leverage), a willingness to 
take on too many low-margin jobs to pump up revenues, and 
operating in high-risk markets are all factors that can endanger 
the substance of a healthy company. That’s why CeoTronics 
will continue to deploy its management capacity and financial 
resources going forward only after a careful opportunity, risk, 
and feasibility analysis, and will be equally conscientious in 
examining new markets.

Thomas H. Günther
Chairman of the Board of 

Management, CEO

• Finance / controlling
• Marketing / sales
• Personnel
• Compliance
• IT
• Investor relations
• Management of the six foreign subsidiaries

Berthold Hemer
Deputy Chairman of the Board of 

Management, CTO

• Research and development
• Technical directives and standards
• Patents / intellectual property rights

Günther Thoma
Member of the Board of 

Management, COO

• Production
• Purchasing
• Inventories / logistics
• Quality control
• Technical support
• Export control
• Management of CT-Video GmbH
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www.ct-video.com

* CT-Custom Made Solutions: Encrypted COFDM transmission of video, audio, and data signals for 
remote-controlled manipulators and bomb disposal vehicles.

ctv.info@ceotronics.com • Phone  +49 34776 6149-0

Real time video transmission 
for EOD-robots

CTV_GB_Roboter_Anzeige_E  25.08.10  15:22  Seite 1
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